## **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Samera Ahmad

[Date]

The Economy of Eyes: Examining the Ethical Status of For-Profit Entities in Eye Banking

By Samera Ahmad Master of Arts

Bioethics

Gerard Vong, DPhil Advisor

Yousuf Khalifa, MD Committee Member

Rebecca Pentz, PhD Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies Date The Economy of Eyes: Examining the Ethical Status of For-Profit Entities in Eye Banking

By Samera Ahmad B.S, Georgia Institute of Technology, 2015

Advisor: Gerard Vong, DPhil

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Bioethics 2020

## Abstract

# The Economy of Eyes: Examining the Ethical Status of For-Profit Entities in Eye Banking By Samera Ahmad

Corneal transplant is the most common transplant performed in the United States, with more than 80,000 performed in 2018. The industry has grown rapidly in recent years thanks to the introduction of new processing techniques. Business changes have also occurred in the past few years, with the recent introduction of for-profit entities into the eye banking industry. These for-profit entities are participating not just in the traditional functions of an eye bank, such as the recovery, processing, and distribution of tissue, but also participating in corneal transplant research and development. For-profit entities in a human donation industry raise several ethical questions, and a dedicated examination of the ethical concerns with for-profits is essential to understand and evaluate their role in the eye banking industry.

To achieve this examination, I begin with an interview survey that was performed with corneal surgeons and eye bank leadership on their attitudes toward for-profit entities in corneal donation. There were several positive outlooks noted, such as the ability of for-profit entities to perform more research and innovation. There were also several ethical concerns, most frequent of which where the potential of for-profit to exploit donor generosity, the loss of local tissue with for-profit entity expansion, and loss of donor trust if notified of for-profit entities in corneal banking. I then focused on these three most frequent concerns to see if a more comprehensive ethical analysis could illuminate if these concerns were relevant to for-profits or offered any reason to reject for-profits in eye banking. I determine that none of the concerns in the interview actually provide an incontrovertible reason to reject for-profits, and that ethical differences between for-profits and non-profits might instead originate from the structural differences in their business model. Most notably, for-profits allow for the participation of investors and shareholders in their business, which creates conflicts of interest between the duty to donors and the duty to investors. I conclude that for-profit entities in eye donation must address these conflicts of interest in their operations, and I suggest several interventions to help ensure the ethical management of conflicting interests to investors and donors. The Economy of Eyes: Examining the Ethical Status of For-Profit Entities in Eye Banking

By Samera Ahmad B.S, Georgia Institute of Technology, 2015

Advisor: Gerard Vong, DPhil

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Bioethics 2020

## Acknowledgements

First, I'd like to thank my advisors and committee members, Gerard Vong, Rebecca Pentz, and Yousuf Khalifa for their guidance, criticism, feedback, and encouragement through this process. Thank you to Emory School of Medicine and the Emory Center for Ethics.

To the many friends who lent an ear, kept me accountable, and provided plenty of laughs along the way, I am forever grateful.

Thank you to Mona Ahmad, Kevin Muench, Penne Ahmad, and Ebba Nilsson for being instrumental in all of my successes – I would not be where I am today without your relentless support. All my love.

# Table of Contents:

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
Donation Pathway	
For-Profit Entities in Donation	4
The Ethical Challenge of For-Profits	5
Structure of Thesis	6
Concerns in the Literature	7
CHAPTER TWO: INTERVIEW STUDY ON FOR-PROFITS IN CORNEAL DONATION	9
CHAPTER THREE: EXAMINING ETHICAL CONCERNS OF INTERVIEWEES	10
Profiting from Donated Tissue	10
Profiting from a Gift	11
Profiting from Human Tissue	13
Damage to Donor Trust	18
Loss of Local Tissue	23
Justice and Non-Local Distribution	24
Donor and Recipient Outcomes in Non-Local Tissue Distribution	25
Conclusions	27
CHAPTER FOUR: CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND CORNEAL DONATION	29
The Ethics of Conflicts of Interest	
Duty to Donors in Corneal Donation	
Conflicts of Interest and For-Profit Eye Banking Entities	
Conflicts of Interest in the Pathway from Donor to Recipient	
Recovery	
Processing/Distribution	
Research	45
Interventions to Help Mitigate Conflicts of Interest	46
Improving Informed Consent and Transparency	47
Limiting Eye Bank Size	50
Research	53
Conclusion	54
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	57

## **Chapter One: Introduction**

As the organ and tissue donation arenas have evolved in the United States, ethical questions have continued to arise that challenge our traditional notions of how donation should be conducted. Organ donation organizations are coming up with ever new ways to maximize the donation rate to attempt to bridge the gap for the many patients waiting on transplant recipient lists, whereas tissue donation, including eye donation, faces a surplus of incoming donations, which has brought its own corresponding questions of how to manage a donation system with no scarcity (Chu 2000, Moshirfar et al. 2018). Eye donation, or more precisely corneal donation, rid itself of waiting lists more than a decade ago, and the industry has slowly shifted in several ways away from the original eye banking models. Previously, eye banks would recover tissue from local hospitals or morgues, place the tissue with local corneal surgeons, the surgeon would perform any pre-transplant tissue processing in the operating room, and then transplant the tissue. The first major shifts were that once the waiting lists were eradicated, corneal tissue could be placed with surgeons on a scheduled basis. In other words, a surgeon can freely schedule their transplant surgeries, notify the eye bank of their upcoming transplant surgeries, and the eye bank can promise tissue on the date of surgery (Chu 2000, Moshirfar et al. 2018). Additionally, eye banks began to have a surplus of tissue domestically, and many began to partner with foreign surgeons to export any excess tissue (Moshirfar et al. 2018, Gain et al. 2016). One additional change was that newer techniques of corneal transplant were being invented; these techniques promised improved success rates of the transplant graft but required a larger amount of preoperative processing of the tissue (Mannis and Sugar 2018). The corneal tissue had to be carefully separated, such that only a few layers of the cornea would be transplanted, as opposed to the full thickness of the cornea (Rose, Kelliher, and Jun 2009). This processing was originally

performed by surgeons in the operating room, but as eye banks began to enjoy the financial benefits of having a surplus of tissue, some began to have the resources to process the corneal tissue within the eye bank itself (Richard L. Lindstrom 2017, Moshirfar et al. 2018). This meant that when surgeons would receive the tissue, it would already be ready for transplantation without the need for any additional operating room processing. This ability to process tissue within an eye bank meant that eye banks could now charge surgeons or surgery centers not just for the tissue, but also for the cost of processing the tissue (Richard L. Lindstrom 2017, Moshirfar et al. 2018, Mannis and Sugar 2018). This created a new form of revenue for eye banks and significantly increased the revenue capacity for eye banks that could offer this service. As some eye banks became more experienced in the processing of tissue, they sought to solicit additional partner surgeons in order to increase the revenue stream from processing and distribution (Richard L. Lindstrom 2017, Moshirfar et al. 2018, Mannis and Sugar 2018). With eye banks having an unprecedented capacity to bring in capital, the first for-profit eye banking entities emerged. These novel for-profit entities combined the traditional functions of an eye bank with a for-profit business structure, including investors and shareholders (Richard L. Lindstrom 2017, Moshirfar et al. 2018, Mannis and Sugar 2018).

For-profit entities seem like they would be discordant with the current National Organ Transplant Act (NOTA), which generally forbids any valuable exchange for human tissue (Champney 2016). But, NOTA makes an exception for the standard costs associated with the recovery, processing, and distribution of tissue (Champney 2016). In the United States, this is a necessary exception, otherwise the donation industry would have to be reliant on volunteers to function. Being able to recover some of the expended cost allows organ and tissue banks are able to employ support staff, have brick and mortar processing and quality control locations, and provide more specialized processing techniques for surgeons and patients. The NOTA does not specify a limit for what a reasonable cost might be, which gives organ, tissue, and eye banks leeway in their setups and account for fluctuations in medical and operation costs over time. Similarly, the NOTA does not contain any language that mandates that donation banking entities must be non-profits. Through these policies, there is nothing to stop a for-profit entity from entering the donation marketplace. The flow of profits into a for-profit eye banking entity generally comes from processing and distribution of corneal tissue. To better illustrate this, I will describe the various steps in corneal banking, using a hypothetical corneal transplant scenario, and then describe the flow of money for a for-profit entity in corneal banking.

## **Donation Pathway**

In exploring this topic, it is important to outline the donation pathway in detail, as it will be often referenced in the ethical analysis. Suppose there is a scenario where a person has just been declared deceased, and they died in such a manner that the hospital determined they may be a candidate for corneal donation. The next step is the hospital will alert the local eye bank, or sometimes a local organ/tissue procurement agency, and the eye bank will begin the process of vetting the donor tissue (Eye Bank Association of America , Liaboe et al. 2015) . If the donor is determined to be eligible for recovery, a recovery agent will go out into the field and recover the corneal tissue, while simultaneously performing in-person assessments of the donor that will assist in determining if the tissue is appropriate for transplant. The tissue is returned to the eye bank, where the tissue is assessed for quality. If the tissue quality and donor history, physical, and lab work suggest that the corneal tissue is eligible for transplant, the tissue is then matched to a surgeon who has placed a request for tissue for an upcoming scheduled surgery. The tissue is processed by a processing technician for the particular needs of the surgeon, and then rechecked

for a final quality checkpoint. Finally, the tissue is then packaged and shipped to the surgery center where the surgeon is affiliated (Eye Bank Association of America , Liaboe et al. 2015). The surgeon can then utilize the tissue for the transplant operation. It is important to note here that the activities covered in the donation pathway (i.e. recovery, quality control, processing, distribution) are not always performed by one singular entity. Corneal tissue may be recovered by one bank, then transferred to another for processing and distribution. Or, tissue may be recovered and processed by one bank, but then distributed via another entity.

After the corneal tissue has been placed with the surgeon, the up-front cost of the tissue is paid for by the surgery center or by the physician's practice (Bentley and Hanson 2014). Following the completion of the surgery, the surgery center or ophthalmology practice will file for reimbursement from the patient's insurance company. Insurance companies tend to follow the reimbursement patterns set by the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), which has currently granted corneal transplant a pass-through status (Bentley and Hanson 2014, Hayden, Kelly, and Rapuano 2012). What this means is that there is no set reimbursement rate for corneal transplant surgeries, and the insurance company will reimburse any reasonable amount of money that the surgeon or surgery center requests. The pass-through status of corneal transplant may make variations in corneal tissue cost less noticeable to surgeons or surgery centers, as they will be appropriately compensated even if the tissue is more expensive.

## For-Profit Entities in Donation

For a for-profit entity in eye banking, the opportunity to make a profit comes from this initial charge to surgeons or surgery centers for their corneal tissue product. The for-profit eye bank can charge more than what they expended on the corneal banking activities (e.g. recovery, processing, quality control), which would allow them to accumulate a profit. This does not necessarily mean though that they are charging more than other eye banks to garner this profit. If the for-profit is able to perform their eye banking processes at higher efficiency than the nonprofit banks, then they may be able to charge the same amount as a non-profit eye bank while still making a profit. But, even if they are charging slightly more than a non-profit eye bank, there is unlikely going to be any resistance from surgeons or surgery centers, as their full reimbursement is still protected due to the insurance pass through status of transplant surgeries (Hayden, Kelly, and Rapuano 2012, Bentley and Hanson 2014). For-profit eye banks in the United States have also begun offering novel additions to their tissue, such as devices or media additives, which can only be accessed if a surgeon or surgery center agrees to purchase tissue from that eye bank (Mannis and Sugar 2018). The total cost charged at the time of surgery then includes both the tissue and the added device, and the eye bank can then garner profits from the device sales as well. Again, the cost of the tissue and device will have pass-through status when a surgery center files for reimbursement. The tissue transplant saw a shift to for-profit entities almost two decades ago, and the tissue industry has shown that the strategy of accumulating profits through deceased donation is extremely lucrative (Agnos 2003, Thompson and Kendall 2009). In 2013, the overall market value for the tissue banking was reported to exceed \$2 billion (Fabregas and Conte 2013). Public data does not yet exist on the size of the eye banking market, but it is undoubtedly continuing to grow each year as eye banks expand in size and capacity. The Ethical Challenge of For-Profits

The intersection of profit-making and human donation has been ethically examined in the past in the context of organ sale and for-profit tissue processing, and the conversation is with the changing landscape of eye banking. It is worth a dedicated review of the ethical status of profit making, and specifically for-profit entities in eye/corneal donation. This thesis will attempt to

address the ethical status of for-profit entities in corneal donation, in particular examining if there are any relevant ethical concerns that are unique to for-profit entities in corneal donation that might be ameliorated with adoption of new policy or regulation. For example, these forprofit entities in eye banking may be involved in any of the various activities of eye banking, including processing, distribution, or research, but any of the above may be referred to in this thesis as for-profit eye banks for shorthand. As for-profit entities in eye banking solely exist in the United States, the scope of this thesis will be limited to eye banks in the United States, as well as the markets and regulations within the United States.

## Structure of Thesis

As no prior empirical studies have been done to address ethical attitudes toward forprofits in cornea transplant, it was decided to perform an attitude study with corneal surgeons and eye bank leadership as foundation for this ethical examination. This not only serves as a launching point for discussion, but also gives a survey of the landscape that is useful for determining which discussions and concerns are of most interest to the corneal transplant community. I will describe this study in detail, including a full review of the results. I will then focus on three of the most prevalent concerns identified in the interview study, with the goal of determining if any of the concerns can provide an ethical reason to object for-profit entities in eye banking. I will particularly highlight that many of the concerns identified in the interview study apply to both for-profits and non-profits in corneal donation. Finally, I will argue that forprofit entities are not inherently an immoral part of the donation industry, but that their financial structure creates conflicts of interest between investors and donors/donor families. I will detail ways in which these conflicts of interest may be problematic throughout different stages of the donation pathway if not properly mitigated. I will conclude with recommendations for policy and regulation reform that may help to create more transparency and alleviate some of the competitive pressures. Next, I will briefly review some of the ethical concerns that have arisen in related literature on organ or tissue transplant.

#### Concerns in the Literature

Previously, literature on profit making from organ donation has focused on the ability of donors to be able to make a profit through the sale of their organs. Arguments against such a practice note that the sale of organs may be exploitative and disproportionately impact those who are impoverished, as organ sale leverages monetary gain to induce people to undergo an unnecessary medical procedure (Greasley 2014, MacKellar 2014). Others argue that organ sale is dehumanizing, as it places a dollar value on a human part (Greasley 2014, MacKellar 2014). The underlying argument here is that humans have an inherent value that cannot and should not be capitalized on (MacKellar 2014). Again, this literature is focused primarily on donors being allowed to make profit from their organs, which is not the scenario at hand in corneal donation, but it still highlights concerns and attitudes toward human parts that may be relevant here.

This literature on for-profits in tissue donation have noted that of for-profit entities in tissue banking may not be adequately covered in the consent process with donor families (Siminoff, Traino, and Gordon 2010). Moreover, some have suggested that knowledge of for-profits in tissue banking may dissuade people from wanting to participate in donation (Siminoff, Traino, and Gordon 2010, Agnos 2003). Some worry that profit making is disruptive, or possibly even exploitative, of the altruism that motivates people to donate (Kirby 2012, Wilkinson 2004). Other notable concerns include how research is conducted using donated research tissue, and if products created from something such as donated skin are ethically distinct than a product created from purely synthetic materials (Kirby 2012, Petrini 2012, Pirnay et al. 2015). Some

have also wondered if there should be a particular status for how to market products that originate from donated tissue, and if marketing that minimizes the role of donor altruism in developing such a product is disrespectful (Agnos 2003).

This is by no means an all-encompassing review of the transplant literature, but it introduces several of the ethical strands that might be relevant to corneal transplant. The previously identified concerns are a helpful starting point for discussions on corneal transplant and for this thesis, were particularly useful for creating salient interview questions for members of the corneal transplant community. Next, I will detail the qualitative interview study conducted with corneal surgeons and eye bank leadership, which attempts to describe the most prevalent attitudes toward for-profit entities in eye banking amongst these parties. The study will examine not only concerns with for-profits, such as the ones detailed above, but also assess positive attitudes toward for-profit entities to determine if people perceive any particular benefits from them. This interview study will provide useful insight into which of the previously mentioned concerns are salient to corneal transplantation.

## **Chapter Two: Interview Study on For-Profits in Corneal Donation**

Chapter Two redacted due to copyright restriction. Chapter Two is published at:

Ahmad, S., G. Vong, R. D. Pentz, M. Dixon, K. W. Davis, and Y. M. Khalifa. 2020. "Ethics in Eye Banking: Understanding Professional Attitudes Toward Industry Changes." *Cornea*. doi: 10.1097/ico.00000000002296.

and

https://journals.lww.com/corneajrnl/Abstract/publishahead/Ethics\_in\_Eye\_Banking\_Understan\_ ding\_Professional.96206.aspx

## **Chapter Three: Examining Ethical Concerns of Interviewees**

Interviews with eye bank leadership and corneal surgeons in eye banking revealed several key ethical concerns amongst the community with the entry of for-profit entities (Ahmad et al. 2020). In order to better understand the ethical status of corneal transplant, it is vital to critically analyze these concerns against existing literature and evidence. Any intersection of human donation and business is bound to cause fear and concern, and some participants in the study indicated that they do agree that for-profit entities in eye banking raise ethical fears. Of the concerns raised in the empirical study, three were pervasive amongst both corneal surgeons and eye banking leadership to warrant a thorough ethical examination (Ahmad et al. 2020). In this chapter, I will aim to further assess these three prevalent concerns raised in the empirical study to examine if they are truly justifiable ethical reasons to reject the entry of for-profit entities into eye banking. The concerns I will focus on in this chapter are 1) profiting from donation is exploitative of a gift, 2) for-profit entities in donation may damage donor trust, and 3) for-profit entities in eye banking will lead to loss of local tissue supply.

## Profiting from Donated Tissue

In the empirical study performed, participants from both groups tended to agree that profiting from donated eye tissue was exploitative of a donor gift, and many participants provided open-ended answers that mirrored this sentiment (Ahmad et al. 2020). The Likert-scale statement used for the interview study asked participants if "profiting from donated human tissue exploits the generosity of donors and the inherent monetary value of their donated tissue" (Ahmad et al. 2020). This statement is multifaceted, and there are several ethically relevant fragments within that must be assessed. The first phrase contains two key words worth separate examination: donated and human. I will begin by first examining the claim that it is ethically objectionable to profit from gifted tissue and then move to assessing the claim that it is ethically objectionable to profit from human tissue.

## Profiting from a Gift

The ethical claim in the statement included in the interview study intentionally included the word donated, in an effort to emphasize the gifted nature of corneal tissue, and 23% of participants in the study echoed the language of corneal tissue as a "gift" in their qualitative responses (Ahmad et al. 2020). Organ and tissue donation has been examined previously through the lens of gift giving, most famously via Titmuss's work on blood donation (Titmuss 2018, Rapport and Maggs 2002). Corneal donation could fit within the framework of gift giving as it is typically offered freely by the donor and donor family for no remuneration; the foundation of the motivation to donate is to promote the general good of society, as opposed to any material gain for oneself or for a business/corporation. In other words, donation is an altruistically driven process, and the ultimate goal of donors or donor families is to provide something of benefit to another person (the recipient). Donation is not dissimilar to the colloquial understanding of gift giving of any item, although analogous with charitable giving such as clothing donation, as donors do not have the opportunity to select the recipient of their gifted cornea, and that donors must rely on several other parties to facilitate the provision of their gift to the recipient. In the context of corneal donation, these parties include eye banking entities (performing recovery, quality assessment, processing, and distribution of the corneal tissue) and surgeons (performing the transplant of the corneal tissue).

Understanding that corneal donation may be understood as a gift raises the original question from the interview survey: is profiting from a gift fundamentally exploitative or unethical? Some may object to profiting from a gift as being unethical as such an act potentially goes against the intended goals and motivations of the gift giver (Camenisch 1981). But, if we are assuming that gift giver is acting altruistically, then the gift giver must recognize that the transplant recipient has the right of self-determination over what to do with the gift. Stated another way, the giver must release control of the item to the recipient for it to be an altruistic act (Gill and Lowes 2008, Camenisch 1981).

In assessing the claim that the gift giver should allow the recipient to have selfdetermination over the gift, it is worth considering the larger impact on the gift-giver if the recipient does choose to profit from their gift. If the gift-giver has given something of extreme sentimental or personal value, they may expect that the recipient will treat the gift with the same reverence and value as the gift giver. If the recipient then chooses to profit from said gift, the gift-giver will likely not only be tremendously offended by the action, but if the gift was one that the giver valued tremendously, they may come to view the recipient as an undeserving and untrustworthy recipient of such a gift in the future. In the context of corneal donation, this is a noteworthy outcome, as people tend to assign a large importance to donated human tissue, and trust that others will give an appropriate amount of respect to their tissue after donation is an essential element of people's decision to donate. But, as described above, in corneal donation, the recipient is not the person who is making the decision to financially profit from the tissue; instead, the external parties responsible for stewarding the gift from the donor to the recipient are the ones who are profiting. This actually may circumvent the outcome described above then, as gift-givers will still likely view the recipients as worthy of the gift, although they may question then the external arbiters of the tissue.

But it is worth noting that there are ample alternate situations where gift giving may rely on some other party, and that external party's decision to profit does not damage the gift-giver's decision to contribute. To use a commonplace example, gift givers often rely on mail or package delivery services to transmit the gift to the recipient, which could be analogous to a for-profit distribution system for corneal donation. Mail and package delivery services are by and large run as competitive, profit making entities. Although perhaps a reductive illustration, it does suggest that we already commonly accept that third parties should be allowed to garner a profit from a gift through facilitating the gift relationship, and we do not consider such an act to be exploitative of the gifter's generosity. Of course, this is contingent on appropriately stewarding the gift for its intended use as according to the wishes of the gift-giver, but assuming this to be true, then there is nothing inherently exploitative or unethical about such an action.

To conclude, although third party profiteering is theoretically ethically permissible, in the case of corneal donation, the practicality is much more complicated. Appropriate stewardship of human tissue is complex, as the expectations of donors/donor families for these stewards may vary widely and the balance of trust for donation entities can be particularly fragile. For some donors, an eye banking entity garnering a profit from their gift may be acceptable, as long as their gift still reaches the intended recipient and is able to provide some good, but others may view such an action as subverting the gift-relationship as they intended. This topic will be revisited in the next chapter, but this is simply to highlight that profiteering does not necessarily render third-party stewardship unethical. Other factors, such as appropriate stewardship of the gift, must be considered.

## Profiting from Human Tissue

The second key component of the ethical statement in the original Likert-scale statement is that the donated item being profited from is obtained from a human body (Ahmad et al. 2020). On review of the literature against profit making from human tissue, many of the arguments are based on objections to the commodification of human tissue, which often is reliant on the pretext that human bodies (and their component parts) belong in a sacred class of material objects (Wilkinson 2004). According to this line of argument, humans are uniquely complex, autonomous, self-sufficient beings, and allowing humans or human parts to be treated as a market good is objectifying and dehumanizing to the unique value of humans (Petrini 2012, Wilkinson 2004). The sanctity of the human body is a complex ethical topic which will not be discussed fully here, but suffice to say that those who perceive commodification to be immoral would thereby object to profit making from human tissue, as it is dehumanizing to equate a dollar value to the inherent value of humans and human bodies. Upon more critical evaluation of this claim, it is clear that this contention is inconsistent with currently accepted behaviors regarding humans and human tissue.

Although some may claim that commodification of human tissue is unethical or exploitative, the reality of the matter is that our current system is based on and allows for some amount of commodification. As a nation, it is accepted that some amount of money can be exchanged through the trade of human tissue, as written into the National Organ Transplant Act (Thompson and Kendall 2009). The National Organ Transplant Act does technically legally prohibit the purchase or sale of human organs or tissue, but it also contains an exception clause for the costs associated with the stewardship of the organ or tissue between the donor and the recipient. What this means, in practice, is that all eye, tissue, and organ banking entities request a reimbursement cost from a hospital or surgery center for the donated organ provided, as a medical device company would for a surgical implant or tool; in other words, they treat the human tissue as a medical commodity. It would seem that in the United States eye banking system, this revenue is necessary to allow for corneal transplant to occur at all, as organ and tissue procurement, processing, and distribution could not operate on a purely volunteer basis; ergo, this is an ethically appropriate form of revenue generation in the aim of the larger good that organ, tissue, and eye transplant provide. Some may argue here though that the situation presented does not necessarily qualify as commodification of human tissue, as money is not directly made from the tissue, just from the associated operations needed to properly utilize the tissue. But there are current examples of human parts that are commodified more directly, and it is worth briefly exploring if relevant ethical differences exist between those parts and corneal tissue.

There are several human parts that are excluded from the National Organ Transplant Act, such as human sperm or human plasma (Thompson and Kendall 2009). In the United States, tissue and blood banking institutions have less restrictions on the acceptable transactions with these tissues; for example, people are often compensated for providing sperm or plasma, and various medical or biotech companies may freely utilize these human tissues to garner revenue and profit. The products may be processed and sold to another person to be used for its original biological purpose, as in the case of sperm donation for artificial insemination. Alternatively, the human tissue may be sold for research and medical device creation; altogether, these practices drive a massive domestic market via the profits they incur (Grand View Research 2018). This is a clear instance of human commodification, but unlike corneal tissues, this commodification is ubiquitous, legal, and commonly accepted as ethically sound (Grand View Research 2018, Farrugia, Penrod, and Bult 2010, Wilkinson 2016).

There are a few notable distinctions between the group of human parts that are an established part of the marketplace and corneal tissue that should be considered. The list of human parts accepted as ethically sound to sell and make profit from described here is by no

means an extensive list, but it is amply representative for the ethical analysis necessary. The first distinction of note is that as opposed to corneal tissue, the tissues listed above are all renewable parts of the human body. In other words, people are able to produce more plasma, blood, or sperm to replace those that have been donated. Ethical arguments that favor commodification in particular for renewable tissues typically are that they risk less physical harm to the donor, their renewability lessens the risk of regret, and they by nature are less scarce than other human organs (Dworkin 1993, Sobota 2004).

Corneal donation may only occur post-mortem, unlike the renewable tissues mentioned above. I will not aim to detail arguments of why living versus deceased humans may hold different ethical value but will note that commodification of tissue from post-mortem donors may actually be more ethically sound than living donors based on current literature. There is no risk of physical or psychological harm to the donor with post-mortem corneal transplant donation, as opposed to something like blood or sperm donation which each carry small but still relevant risks to the person donating. Moreover, there is a lower risk of inducement to donate in post-mortem donation, as they are not receiving any sort of reimbursement (MacKellar 2014). Altogether, corneal tissue is not necessarily ethically distinct from tissues that are directly commodified in the current market, and arguments against for-profits for this reason are ethically inconsistent with current practice in the United States.

Some may argue that there is an ethically relevant difference between revenue and profit in their acceptability. Revenue here is referring to any income that is accrued from some exchange or some action. Profit alternatively refers to revenue that is earned in excess of the expenditure necessary to complete said exchange or action. Although an eye bank's tax designation may be either "for-profit" or "non-profit", both entities may actually accrue some amount of profit in the traditional sense as defined above. The designation of non-profit does not mean that the eye bank cannot or does not earn revenue greater than its expenditure, but simply that any excess revenue (i.e. profit) must be routed back into the functions and missions of the eye bank.

Non-profit entities are structurally designed to serve some charitable purpose, and as such they enjoy tax exemption for their entity. Moreover, they can be given a 501(c)(3) designation, which means that allows for tax deductible charitable donation to the organization (Malani and Posner 2007). But, to maintain such a status, non-profits and their leadership must commit themselves to their charitable mission, and any accrued revenue must reflect such a commitment. All revenue is to be reinvested back into the mission of the charity, and individuals (including non-profit leadership) may not gain any financial advantage through their contribution, financial or not, to the non-profit. To ensure such a fact, there are legal limits on the amount of profit that may be accrued by a non-profit, and non-profits must disclose publicly their finance sheets at the end of each fiscal year, detailing how their revenue and profits were utilized for the year (Hofmann and McSwain 2013). For a non-profit eye banking entity, this means that they are typically operating with fairly narrow or negligible profit margins, as they may only be recouping revenue equal to their costs in recovering, processing, and distributing the tissue. Forprofit entities are structured to support a profit-making operation, and as such, they are permitted to engage in activities to promote such a mission that would be forbidden to non-profit entities. For example, they may offer reciprocal ownership stake in their entity, where if a person contributes financially to a company, they are able to expect some form of financial recompensation if the company experiences financial success; this is to incentivize a larger influx of capital into the for-profit entity to finance their operations as they establish themselves and

their business (Malani and Posner 2007). Additionally, they do not have the same limitations on how much profit they may accrue or how such profit should be used. In exchange for these business freedoms, they are not given any tax exemptions and are also not expected to maintain the same level of transparency of their finances (Malani and Posner 2007). Knowing the key differences between for-profits and non-profits, it is possible that some participants may have been objecting to excess accumulation of profit from human tissue or use of profit for noncornea transplant related activities, which is a topic to be revisited in the next chapter.

Participants in the interview study were asked to reply to a complex ethical statement, and by and large voiced their concern that profit making from donated corneal tissue would be exploitative of donors and their generosity (Ahmad et al. 2020). On a further examination, it can be seen that several different ethical interpretations of this statement are possible, but that all fail to stand up as a singular reason that for-profit entities in donation must be ethically rejected. It may be unfavorable to profit from a gift, but it is not necessarily unethical; similarly, profiting from human tissue, either directly or indirectly, may be disturbing to some, but it would be ethically inconsistent with current practice to claim that for-profits should be ethically rejected for that reason. Analysis of this concern though has elicited several ethically salient points worth further examination, such as the issues of competition, consolidation, and consequences of increased profit making on the practices of the corneal transplant community. These will be further addressed in future chapters, with the important note that these ethical issues implicate both non-profit and for-profit eye banks.

## Damage to Donor Trust

The results of the interview study show that the majority of participants in both the eye bank leadership group and the corneal surgeon group hold the ethical concern that widespread public knowledge of for-profit entities in eye banking may disrupt donor or donor family trust (Ahmad et al. 2020). This ethical concern is predicated on the notion that donor and donor family trust in donation institutions is paramount to people consenting to donation. As already detailed above, in donation, people must rely on third parties to carry out their altruistic goals; they must trust that this system will honor the altruistic goals that they hope for, or they may not participate in the system at all. This is obviously quite a precarious situation, as loss of public trust then risks people choosing to not participate in donation, decreasing the overall number of corneal donations in this country. Much work has been put into ensuring the eradication of the waiting list for corneal transplants in the United States, and regression from this achievement could be seen as quite catastrophic for both surgeons and patients.

In assessment of this ethical concern, a historical review of the literature is useful for understanding why this fear is so prevalent, as well assessing if there is any evidence to suggest for-profit entities in eye banking may damage trust in eye banking entities. First, I will begin by looking at studies that may suggest that loss of donor trust may result in a decline in donation rates. The PANAORAMA scandal is one of the earliest examples of how widespread public mistrust can hurt donation rates. In 1980, the BBC aired a primetime news special that called into question how physicians determine brain death in advance of donation, with the program insinuating that physicians are procuring organs from people who are not actually dead – that they are killing people or letting them die in order to obtain their organs (Matesanz 1996). This program was viewed by many in the United Kingdom, and although disputed by the National Health Service, the program still created public outrage and mistrust in the donation industry. Donation rates fell in the subsequent months, taking more than a year for the rates to return to their prior levels (Matesanz 1996). More recently, a report from Shaw, Neuberger, and Murphy (2013) details the consequences of a public scandal in four donation/ transplant agencies in Germany. The agencies were found to have been manipulating recipient lists and creating fraudulent medical records in order to move certain patients to higher priority status for receiving a liver transplant. The issue was first discovered in 2011, and over the next year, knowledge of the agencies' misconduct became widespread amongst the German public. Donor rates of organ dropped more than 20% over the next two years, with donation of other organs, corneas, and tissues similarly declining in this period (Röck et al. 2017, Shaw, Neuberger, and Murphy 2013). These examples illustrate the potential harm that may arise from a loss of public trust in donation and transplantation entities, especially in the age of mass media and social networking. With this historical background in mind, it is important to now look to existing literature on for-profit entities in donation to see if they may elicit a similar effect on donation rates.

Siminoff, Traino, and Gordon (2010) conducted an interview study of families who had recently made a decision whether or not to donate a loved ones' tissue in order to assess what factors may have been important to their consent decisions. Participants were asked if they agreed or disagreed with the Likert-scale statement that it is "acceptable for tissue to be processed and distributed by for-profit companies" (Siminoff, Traino, and Gordon 2010, 12). The majority of families, including ones who consented to donation and ones who did not, did not agree with that statement, and the authors concluded that for-profit entity involvement in donation may be one of several key factors in a family's decision whether or not to consent to tissue donation (Siminoff, Traino, and Gordon 2010). Unfortunately, no formal data exists to show that knowledge of for-profit entities in eye banking prior to donation may actually deter donation consent from families, and this is a vital missing piece of the current literature. In lieu, I

will examine how existing laws on for-profits has been received by the public. These may suggest a pattern of attitudes amongst the public with regards to for-profit entities, but do not replace the need for formal analysis.

In certain parts of the country, informed consent procedures already include information on the potential use of tissue by for-profit entities. For example, as of 2003, California state law mandates that informed consent for tissue donation in California must make clear that for-profit entities may be involved in the processing of the tissue (Katz 2005). This came in the wake of an investigation by the Office of the Inspector General (OIG), who conducted interviews with donors in order to determine their attitudes toward tissue banking companies becoming for-profit and utilizing donated tissue for cosmetic products (Agnos 2003). The investigation concluded that donors may not object to profiteering from tissue processing, but objections arise when this profiteering occurs in excess (Agnos 2003). In response to the OIG's recommendations, California chose to adopt a policy of allowing for-profits to operate within the state but mandated that informed consent procedures must include information on for-profits and provide families an option to donate without processing by for-profit entities (Agnos 2003, Katz 2005). This study demonstrates two important points; first, donors and donor families do not find profiteering from donated tissue to be entirely unacceptable but do have standards for how much profit is acceptable. It is possible that this reflects a feeling amongst some donors that a for-profit entity is not disruptive to their altruistic donation goals, so long as someone is appropriately being aided at the end of the process. Second, this law has now been in effect for many years, but has not had the outcome of significantly lowering the tissue donation rate in California (Vertanous et al. 2016). Again, this data is particular to tissue donation and cannot necessarily be applied to eye

banking but may be a supportive indicator that the public would not necessarily distrust forprofits in corneal donation.

Of final note, many participants were concerned about how donors might react to forprofit entities but expressed very little concern for other potentially controversial factors in eye banking. For example, excess corneal tissue in the United States is often exported and placed with a foreign recipient; this is a widely accepted practice done by both non-profit and for-profit entities, but one that may also have the effect of hurting donor trust (Martin et al. 2017). For example, a local Las Vegas newspaper reported in August 2019 on a mother who was incredibly upset to discover that her son's corneas were exported to a foreign recipient (Hynes). The mother in the article felt her son's donation was exploited, and she took to social media to attempt to warn other potential donors of this possibility (Hynes 2019). There are no statistics to show exactly what her social media reach was, but the article suggests her intention was to alert a wide audience to her concerns. Although for-profit entities may be a novel introduction to the eye banking system, it is inconsistent to treat for-profit entities in eye banking as something uniquely dangerous to the donation rate, as this article clearly illustrates that foreign export of tissue may be just as damaging to donor trust as the inclusion of for-profits. It is not to suggest one is particularly worse than the other, but just to show that for-profits are not the singular concern in maintaining corneal donation rates; issues of maintaining donor trust implicate the entire eye banking community, including non-profit entities as well.

Although there are some historical instances of donation scandals or donation misinformation causing drops in donation rates, there is evidence to suggest that for-profit entities in donation have already been reported on and publicized, and that no resulting scandal has followed and no fall in donation rates ensued. Moreover, there are other currently accepted practices in eye banking that could pose the same threat, although the practices are deemed to be ethical. There is a need for further research in this area to fully characterize how the general American public may feel about the issue of eye banking, but critical examination of this ethical fear suggests that it may not be as drastic as some worry about.

#### Loss of Local Tissue

In the interview study conducted, there was no closed ended question pertaining to the issue of local tissue, but fears about the impact of for-profit entities on local banks and the local tissue supply they provide was identified in the qualitative answer set by 23% of participants (Ahmad et al. 2020). Traditionally, eye banks operated based on their local geography, with local recovery and local distribution; the original EBAA constitution dictated that eye banks should respect this local sovereignty and that new eye banks should not open unless there is unfilled need geographically (Holt 1965, Moshirfar et al. 2018). Typically, locality was indicated for eye banks at the state-level, with at least one eye bank per state; rarely more than one eye bank existed within a state if such a need existed. But, in recent years, some eye banks have begun moving into other states and other geographic regions to perform recovery of tissue and will subsequently distribute tissue to surgeons in other states, or even in other countries.

In our study, for participants who extrapolated on their ethical concerns with losing local tissue, the justifications can be grouped into two different arguments. The first were justice-focused objections to the distribution of donated tissue to recipients outside of the location where the donor was based on local sovereignty. The second were concerned about the damaging outcomes that may result for recipients without a local bank, such as a decline in the amount of donated tissue or the unavailability of emergency tissue for urgent transplant surgeries. I will explore each of these concerns, with the aim of understanding their validity as a specific

objection to for-profit entities in corneal tissue banking. A review of non-local eye banking systems is a useful starting point for understanding why this fear was pervasive amongst the participants.

## Justice and Non-Local Distribution

The ethical issue of sending tissue to a recipient who may not be locally related to the donor is one that the organ and donation community is facing at large, and it is worth considering how corneal donation may relate to the literature written on this topic for other types of donation. Those who favor a local model for organ and tissue distribution claim an ethical obligation of governments to arrange their donation systems such that they can provide adequate tissue for those within their population. As was briefly covered in the last chapter, this claim suggests that being able to adequately provide for the population within one's borders is vital to an area's sovereignty; in other words, if suddenly, interaction with other locations was impossible, a local area should be able to maintain self-sufficiency of tissue donation and placement. Delmonico et al. (2011) and McHale (2013) wrote on this subject as proponents of local tissue autonomy, with much of their foundational reasoning being based on an argument of justice. McHale (2013) cites instances of wealthy persons in the European Union being able to travel across borders to obtain organ transplants in other cities or countries as fundamentally unethical, as it unjustly allows some people to exploit regional variations in donation rates to bypass the waiting list to obtain an organ transplant. This is one part of a larger phenomenon known in the literature as medical tourism, and it is widely considered as a form of social injustice that must be combated by those who help to regulate organ and tissue donation policy (Hanefeld et al. 2014). The solution proposed by McHale (2013) is to legislate policy that more directly outlaws medical tourism. Delmonico et al. (2011) echoes these sentiments, but also argues that in the goal of governments

must take efforts to eradicate the diseases that necessitate transplant and should create nationalized donation networks, such that there would be no need for medical tourism to occur. Although these claims are sound for the issue of something like kidney transplant, corneal donation in the United States has not relied on a waiting list due to the excess of tissue being recovered each year (Moshirfar et al. 2018). If ethical arguments based in injustice are not applicable to corneal transplant, then objections to a non-local system in the United States are less compelling.

There are still some who may claim self-sufficiency is important due to issues of local sovereignty, but in this context, overemphasis on state borders may actually create more injustice than allowing non-local distribution to occur. There may be areas of the country where donation rates are comparatively lower or areas where there are less resources to perform corneal tissue recoveries. Just as socioeconomic status should be a morally neutral feature in a person's ability to receive a transplanted organ, location of residence should similarly be a neutral feature of a recipient. To create a system where parts of the country may be living with a waiting list while others do not would be unjust and may actually perpetuate medical tourism domestically. *Donor and Recipient Outcomes in Non-Local Tissue Distribution* 

The second group of ethical concerns was founded on the potentially catastrophic outcomes if a local eye banking system is abandoned (Ahmad et al. 2020). In addressing this concern, I will subgroup into the donor-focused outcomes and the recipient-focused outcomes. The donor-focused outcome of concern here is a potential drop in donation rates if people's tissue is not being retained within a local recipient population, as people may be less motivated to donate if they feel that the recipient of their tissue might not be someone from their local area (Long and Krause 2017). This speaks to a general social psychological theory that people tend to feel more willing to assist others who they feel are similar to themselves; as such, people may feel a stronger altruistic drive to donate if they know that the recipient is someone who is associated with them (Long and Krause 2017). The article referenced above regarding the mother who was distressed to find her son's corneas is a good example of such a phenomenon, where she only wanted to donate in order to held "a kid in the United States" (Hynes 2019). In other words, she wanted to donate to help someone like her son, but when she found out someone other received the gift, she regretted her decision to donate. But, studies examining determinants of altruism found that social relationships, as opposed to geographical relationships are typically more important for determining a person's altruistic drive (Long and Krause 2017). For example, a person in Georgia may be more inclined to a person who they personally know that lives in Alabama over an unknown, arbitrary person in Georgia. In the absence of personal relationships, perhaps geographic location may be more pertinent.

Moreover, in the specific instance of corneal transplant, a non-localized eye banking system doesn't particularly mean that tissue cannot be distributed in the same area where it was donated. The current preservative lifespan of corneal tissue in sterile media is about 14 days, which is ample time for the tissue to be safely transported for processing at a secondary location before being placed with a recipient in the original location of recovery. If corneal donation did become increasingly centralized, corneal donors and donor families could reasonably be given an option in their informed consent to if they would prefer local distribution. This could help mitigate the potential outcome of losing donors if the increase in non-local eye banking continues.

It is also important to note here that, similar to the other ethical issues discussed in this chapter, this concern poorly explains why for-profit entities in eye banking are uniquely a risk

factor for the ethical concerns related to the loss of local distribution. Non-local distribution is not exclusive to for-profit agencies in eye banking, as non-profits also engage in the practice of recruiting surgeons from outside their local area and exporting corneal tissue, similarly diverting tissue from local populations to non-local recipients (Martin et al. 2017). Participants are clearly connecting for-profit entities with this behavior, but perhaps this ethical concern speaks more to larger objections of competitive practices amongst all eye-banking entities, as opposed to specifically against for-profit entities.

The general recipient-focused argument amongst our participants was that some amount of corneal transplants occur emergently, typically following a trauma, and that surgeons might need tissue within hours of their request in order to salvage the eye (Ahmad et al. 2020). Surgeons in a service area that no longer have a local eye bank may be unable to serve these patients with urgent needs, which is damaging and regressive compared to the typical model of local eye banks. It is entirely possible that this concern may actually be eradicated in the near future, with the rapid evolution of processing and shipping ability for corneal tissue; but even in the status quo, this argument against for-profit eye banks is not particularly compelling as the heart of this ethical argument is against eye bank consolidation, not for-profit entities. In the United States, both for-profits and non-profits have engaged in consolidative behavior; it is possible that the expansion of for-profits may have spurred more intensity in the practice, but it seems unlikely that this is simply a result of their tax status as opposed to their increased reliance on competitive business practices (Richard L. Lindstrom 2017, Moshirfar et al. 2018, Mannis and Sugar 2018).

## Conclusions

27

Corneal banking is an incredibly unique system of human tissue donation, as the lack of corneal scarcity exempts it from many of the standard concerns that may come with a donation system, such as issues of waiting lists or increasing donation rates. The concerns voiced by the interview participants are important in establishing what the majority opinion is in the eye banking community, which has utility in guiding further collaborative discussion. But none of the major concerns expressed actually provide a foundational ethical reason for why the eye banking community must reject for-profit institutions in eye banking. Profiting from a donated item, or from a part of the human body, is not inherently an unethical practice, and is importantly a commonplace part of the current American organ, tissue, and eye banking industry. This practice has allowed donation systems in this country to increase the overall efficiency of donation systems in this country, improving the national supply and providing incentives for donation systems to successfully utilize their supply. Unequivocal data is lacking to fully know if donors or donor families may refuse to consent to donation if they are informed about for-profit entities in eye banking, but a brief review of current state law and previous government investigations suggests that perhaps it is not a particularly influential factor in consent decisions. Concerns of distributive injustice from a loss of local tissue do not apply to the corneal banking system, and there is potentially an argument that a non-local system may be actually more just for a nation that is operating with national level excess in tissue. Loss of local eye banks and local tissue may have the potential to negatively impact emergency tissue supply, but these concerns are similarly applicable to non-profit eye banks, as consolidation and competitive business practices are not unique to one type of tax status.
## **Chapter Four: Conflicts of Interest and Corneal Donation**

The intersections of commercial businesses and human bodies in modern society are becoming ever more complex, which makes it all the more vital to carefully scrutinize the various ethical challenges that arise with these interactions. The involvement of for-profit entities into the eye banking industry has come during a time of rapid, large scale changes in the industry as a whole, and with it, numerous questions and concerns from those who work within the eye donation field (Mannis and Sugar 2018). In the interview study, eye bank leadership and corneal surgeons were identified to be most frequently concerned about loss of donor trust, loss of local tissue, and exploitation of donor generosity; but upon a more thorough analysis the most prevalent issues do not particularly indict for-profit donation as uniquely less ethical than nonprofit donation. One must then return to the key structural and operational differences between non-profits and for-profits to determine if any of these differences carry an ethical implication. As previously discussed, one of the key differences between for-profits and non-profits is that for-profits have the ability to form reciprocal financial relationships with other persons or entities, where a person can make an upfront investment in a for-profit to support their operational capacity in exchange for a percentage of the profits that are earned from those operations. These relationships constitute an alternate duty that for-profit entities must attend to in addition to their duty to donors and donor families, and this conflict of interest carries ethical weight due to the influence it may impart of on the decisions and operations of a for-profit donation entity. In this chapter, I will investigate conflicts of interest within the context of forprofit entities in eye banking, first by defining conflicts of interest in a biomedical context, including donation, and next by describing why the burden of conflicts of interest are unique to for-profit entities in donation. Next, I will aim to illustrate how conflicts of interest can disrupt

ethical conduct of corneal donation and transplant from recovery to distribution, particularly by fueling completive activities amongst eye banks, and use these identified potential weak spots to propose interventions that may help to mitigate the ethically damaging impacts of conflicts of interest.

### The Ethics of Conflicts of Interest

To begin scrutinizing the ethical issue of conflicts of interest, first a foundational understanding of conflicts of interest must be established. The classic definition of conflict of interest is understood as a situation where some agent holds some interest, be it financial, legal, or personal, that compromises their duty to appropriately make decisions or carry out actions on behalf of another person or entity (Luebke 1987). This conflicting duty may be a duty to another party, such as when the care of one patient may come at the expense of another patient, but it may also be a personal conflict, such as in the case of financial incentives for physicians prescribe particular pharmaceuticals. Conflicts of interest are not in and of themselves ethically objectionable; many people may find themselves in the aforementioned described situation where they have a conflict of interest, but it is the reaction to and outcomes of inappropriately managing a conflict of interest that may lead to moral challenges (Field and Lo 2009). For example, mismanagement of a conflict of interest may lead the agent to make decisions that could be potentially harmful to a vulnerable party, or if the conflict of interest is discovered, it may cause people to lose trust in the agent. Conflicts of interest are often a topic of discussion in medical settings, as physicians and other persons who work in healthcare must be trusted to conduct actions in a way that will be in the best interest of the patient. The majority of ethics literature had focused on financial conflicts of interest in medicine, but there can also be nonfinancial conflicts of interest that arise from competing duties to two different patients or between one patient and the greater utilitarian good (Field and Lo 2009).

It is important to note that conflict of interest does not solely occur at the level of individual interactions. Medical corporations and institutions can also have financial conflicts of interest stemming from their streams of revenue or profits, which can lead to systemic changes in business operations that damage the underlying mission that a medical institution may hold toward patients or physicians (Emanuel and Steiner 1995). Emanuel and Steiner (1995) define this type of conflict of interest as an "institutional conflict of interest", with a large focus on conflicts of interest in biomedical research. They claim that when conflicts of interest exist at the system level, the implications can be larger than any one individual's conflict of interest, as the employees and other shareholders of the institution might all carry out unethical judgments based on the institutional conflict of interest. There is typically an extreme power asymmetry between employees and their employers, and in the scenario of an institutional conflict of interest, employees will be compelled to conduct themselves in whatever manner best ensures their continued employment (Emanuel and Steiner 1995). Employees may also not be aware of the conflicts and how they are impacting the institutional policies and procedures. This can create large institutions where a multitude of people, from the highest leadership to the everyday worker are making compromised decisions due to inappropriate institutional relationships, and the entirety of the institution's work risks losing validity.

### Duty to Donors in Corneal Donation

People who work in corneal donation and eye banking institutions may be subject to conflicts of interest, both at the individual and institutional level. As was briefly described in the previous chapter, donors and donor families must trust and rely on several third-party entities to appropriately act as an arbiter of their tissue and ensure that tissue is used in a way that respects their interests. Similarly to physicians and other healthcare workers, those who work in eye banking can be thought of as entering into an agreement with donors and donor families to act in their best interest, and this fiduciary duty is essential to building mutual confidence between donors and eye banks (Margolis 2015, Boyd 1989). The parties who must act as arbiters of donor eye tissue include the leadership of an eye bank, such as the board of directors or the executive staff that guide an eye bank's mission and operations, as well as various employees of an eye bank, such as the person performing the informed consent process with the families, the person who recovers the tissue, the person performing quality control, the person analyzing and processing the tissue, and the person distributing the tissue to surgeons. The surgeon is the other party of note that is an intermediary between the donor and the recipient. Donors and donor families have very little to no control over what happens to their corneal tissue once it is donated, so there must be an appropriate trust in these various actors, as well as donation institutions, to carry out the donor's altruistic goals in order for people to feel motivated to consent to donation. With an understanding of the duty between donors/donor families and eye banks, one can now look to how a for-profit entity may compromise that duty.

## Conflicts of Interest and For-Profit Eye Banking Entities

For-profit entities are relatively novel in eye banking but are particularly worrisome for creating conflicts of interest in donation. Interestingly, in interviews of eye bank leadership and corneal surgeons, the issue of conflicts of interest with for-profits was infrequently raised, but there was ample concern for certain competitive business behaviors, such as the eradication of local eye banks and lack of appropriate informed consent (Ahmad et al. 2020). As covered in the last chapter, these competitive tactics have outcomes, such as the loss of emergency tissue, that

can hurt donors, but are not restricted to a for-profit entity simply based on their tax status. But, for-profit entities do maintain particular structural and operational elements that are make them particularly susceptible to conflicts of interest with their fiduciary duty to donors, the impact of which may already be seen in the current eye banking field and that may actually induce several of the ethical concerns explored in the survey. There are numerous examples of potential conflict of interest in donation, but particular focus here will be paid to financial conflicts of interest, as this is most salient to the issue of for-profit entities in eye banking.

The legal and functional differences between for-profit and non-profits have been covered briefly elsewhere in this work, but a quick review of the relevant features will be included here. First, for-profit companies, as suggested by their name, are allowed to accumulate profits, whereas non-profits must keep narrow to negligible profit margins to maintain their taxexempt status. Secondly, due to their ability to generate profits, for-profit companies allow for a reciprocal shareholder relationship, where investors can inject some amount of capital into a company in exchange for ownership of a percentage of the eventual assets of the company, with the investor understanding that the fundamental mission and duty of for-profit entities is to maximize assets via the creation and exchange of some valued goods or services (Horwitz 2005, Margolis 2015). Not all shareholder benefits come in the form of profits; more and more shareholders claim their benefits in stock holdings, which climb in valuation as the company utilizes its earned profits to expand in some way. It is also true that in more recent times, companies are diversifying their missions, for example with the rise in popularity of corporate social responsibility (Moriarty 2017). One instance of this in recent history is the founding and subsequent success of shoe company Toms, which gained a large following as a shoe merchant due to its mission to provide one pair of shoes to a person in need for every pair of shoes

purchased (Lee and Jay 2015). This mission of providing shoes to those in need does not necessarily serve to bring any direct monetary benefit to the company but is simply something that can provide general social benefit for people (Moriarty 2017, Lee and Jay 2015). Even eye banks have begun to promote corporate social responsibility, with one of the most major eye banks claiming that the profits from their tissue are fundamental to their mission to cure corneal blindness by 2030 (Moshirfar et al. 2018). But having a socially conscious mission does not negate that for-profit companies are still have a legal fiduciary duty to provide shareholder benefits in some way and often will accumulate wealth regardless of their mission to promote social good. Additionally, corporate social responsibility may actually aid in company profitmaking by increasing consumer favorability (Wigley 2008). This wealth accumulation and profit making is not an immoral act, but I highlight it here simply to note that social missions do not necessarily negate the for-profit obligation to investors.

Non-profits alternatively rely on non-reciprocal financial relationships, such as grants or donations, as they do not legally have the ability to sell any ownership of their entity (Margolis 2015). In the absence of the guiding hand of owners/stakeholders, non-profit entities rely on guidance from a board of directors who have no financial interest in the organization to act as leadership. There are typically thought to be various benefits to each approach, but as noted in the interview study, one of the primary benefits of for-profit entities is the ability to generate large amounts of capital, which can be channeled not just to stakeholders, but also to other endeavors such as research, innovation, or education (Chen 2013, Moore 2000).

As already noted, for-profit entities allow for additional persons to purchase some amount of control over the company and future profits in exchange for an upfront injection of cash for the company. To understand how it relates to the particular issue of donation, one can return to the idea of the gift relationship and the donation pathway. In a for-profit entity in eye banking, the inclusion of these additional persons can be viewed as adding additional intermediaries to the donor-recipient pathway, in the form of investors, shareholders, and venture capitalists. These additional persons may or may not have any medical background or interest, and by and large, their role in the donation pathway is simply to help generate initial capital in order to initialize operations. But, unlike someone who is a financial donor to a non-profit, their continued support for donation efforts is contingent on reciprocity for their initial investment, which requires the donation entity to build profits, assets, and operations to provide such a reciprocity (Moore 2000). Certainly, companies with a social footprint, like the shoe company Toms described above or perhaps an eye donation entity, may obtain angel investments from people who are willing to accept a lower financial return due to the social good being promoted by the company, but there is still an expected reciprocal financial relationship when a person chooses to invest in a for-profit endeavor as opposed to a non-profit endeavor. Notably, the leadership of a for-profit company actually has a legal duty to pursue the most financially beneficial strategy for their investors and shareholders as part of their fiduciary duty to those stakeholders, and these stakeholders may also be given some amount of requires decisional capacity in dictating the organization and operations of the for-profit entity as part of that relationship (Goodpaster 1991). This risks a significant conflict of interest, as it creates a competing, legally binding fiduciary duty to shareholders that may compromise the informal fiduciary duty that eye banking entities and their employees have to donors and recipients. Financial conflicts of interest, especially those of a large sum such as those possible in for-profit entities, tend to be quite powerfully influential, and with the competing duty present in for-profit eye banking entities, the entire institution risks a motivational drift from supporting the altruism

of donation to supporting the profitability of the company (Emanuel and Steiner 1995). Building profitability primarily on the bodies of the deceased is an extremely tenuous ethical position, as appropriate treatment of the deceased is a daunting duty with many complexities to ensure donor families feel well cared for, and for-profit entities must adapt strategies to faithfully meet these conflicting duties, lest outcomes deteriorate for donors or recipients. Some may argue that regardless of the conflicting duty to shareholders and donors, if the central mission of a for-profit is one that serves the greater good, this is a justified utilitarian effort despite the potential impact of the conflicts of interest (Moshirfar et al. 2018). But, as will be outlined later in the chapter, the effect of such an altruistic goal may be diminished by pursuit unilaterally via for-profits, especially since in eye banking, the profitability of the for-profit relies on continued trust from donors and their families. This trust is predicated on the trustworthiness, or perceived trustworthiness of the donation entity, and the conflicting interests of for-profits, regardless of if appropriately managed, may erode on that trust. Moreover, it is an empirically false claim to suggest that in the medical world, social good corresponds with market success, and there are numerous instances where medical outcomes seem to decline when comparing a for-pro versus a non-profit system. For example, for-profit rehabilitation centers and hospitals carry a significantly higher readmission risk than non-profit rehabilitation centers (Li et al. 2018, Kind et al. 2010). These results were particularly shown for Medicare and Medicaid patients, respectively, which suggests a troubling effect of for-profits on the healthcare of vulnerable populations in the United States (Kind et al. 2010, Li et al. 2018). This is not to suggest that there is not the ability for medical good to arise from for-profit funded endeavors. There are certainly benefits to having a larger cash source, but this does not negate the need to address the ethical

concerns that come with building this cash source via a for-profit entity that holds conflicting duties to donors and shareholders.

In understanding why for-profits are uniquely damaging for eye banking, another important consideration is the potential downstream pathway of a for-profit entity in corneal banking. Many for-profit entities will eventually seek to become publicly traded companies, as this tends to exponentially increase the available capital for the company, and it is entirely possible that a for-profit eye bank may seek the same path. The process of becoming a publicly traded company involves an early fundraising period, where the company attempts to reach the initial capital requirements and build out the company foundation necessarily to qualify for an initial public offering (IPO) (Barry et al. 1990, Ellis, Michaely, and O'Hara 1999). Once approved to hold the IPO, the company then can sell shares of the company to the general public, allowing the company to build more capital as shares are bought and sold. If this occurs with a for-profit entity in eye banking, it means that even more people will now have an investment hold in the company, and these people, by and large, will have chosen to seek this investment for the purpose of financial gain. Sure, there may be people seeking to promote social responsibility through stock purchases, but a study of investor behavior suggests that the financial promise of an investment, more so than the social promise, motivates investor interest (Døskeland and Pedersen 2015). Returning to the donor-recipient pathway, if a for-profit entity in eye banking becomes a public entity, they have invited numerous new intermediaries that must be accounted for when appropriately stewarding a person's donation. This public interest constitutes a massive new fiduciary duty that an eye bank must accommodate, and as it grows, its influence may be impossible to overcome. Eye bank leadership must now serve the interests of every public stakeholder as well, and they may not even have the option to retain practices that best serve the

donor or recipient if the majority of shareholders believe that practice is profit losing. If a situation occurs where participating in corneal donation is no longer considered to be the most profitable company strategy anymore, the public shareholders may push the controlling board and executives to move the company away from corneal donation, which is only needed in finite numbers for transplant each year, to something more profitable like tissue transplant, which is needed in much larger quantity for more expensive cosmetic or reconstructive procedures. This is especially troubling if the pattern of consolidation continues, as the larger these for-profit entities become, the more potentially disruptive any transition away from corneal donation may be. This outcome comes as a direct result of the conflicts of interest that come with the expansion of for-profit entities in eye banking; and it highlights how their involvement in the field may present an obstacle to progress in corneal transplant.

Although conflicts of interest are possible in many types of relationships, the donation sphere particularly faces discord when judgments made based on behalf of donors/donor families are corrupted by interests from entities other than donors/donor families. In the case of for-profit entities in donation, these alternate influences come in the form of the fiduciary duty to stakeholders to maximize their profit. This situation poses a unique conflict of interest, one that can have wide reaching implications throughout the donation pathway and lead to unethical actions and erosion of the altruism that motivates donors. To further illustrate this point, I will discuss three realms of the donation pathway where conflicts of interest can erode at donor's rights and potentially lead to less ethical conduct.

### Conflicts of Interest in the Pathway from Donor to Recipient

When faced with a conflicting duty to shareholders and profit making at a systems level, people at an individual level may act in ways that are unethical. This may happen out of concern for maintaining their jobs or potentially for their own financial gain. There are many ways this may play out on a day-to-day basis, and throughout the various responsibilities of an eye bank. Traditionally, the pathway from donor to recipient consists of various steps, with the eye bank being responsible for the recovery (including consent of donor families), processing, and distribution steps. Research arms have become integrated into several eye banks in the country, and there are relevant conflict of interest considerations for these research components as well. I want to briefly cover how conflicts of interest can play out in unethical ways through each of these steps, as well as how it may negatively influence the larger interactions between eye banks. *Recovery* 

Companies who build their profit on deceased donation have an invested interest in maximizing their recovery rates, as this provides more tissue that can potentially be distributed and sold. In conducting the consent, there may be motivation to withhold information that might dissuade the donor family from consenting to donation, or potentially to use a leading style of questioning that may undercut the validity of the informed consent by presuming the family's intent to donate. This has actually been documented as true in tissue donation, where tissue recovery agencies often would not mention potential interactions with for-profits during consent conversations with donor families (Siminoff and Traino 2013). This lack of transparency would risk hurting donor family trust in eye banking institutions, as was discussed in the prior chapter.

When considering recovery of corneal tissue, a for-profit bank may seek to maximize profitability from the process. Maximizing profitability from the recovery process means maximizing the amount of corneal tissue in the country that is routed to that particular eye bank; of course the corneal tissue must also subsequently be sold to a surgery center, a surgeon, or a research group in order for the profits to be realized, but that will be covered in a later section. The drive to recover more tissue may lead to several different downstream actions that can have ethical implications. First, eye banks that have a large desire to bring in a larger amount of tissue may be more lenient in setting their standards for donation, such as accepting a wider range of ages or causes of death, which may result in a net increase in the amount of tissue obtained; but, this judgment doesn't necessarily represent action that is best for donors or recipients. Although there is some guidance from the Food and Drug Administration on donor standards, eye banks assume the bulk of responsibility for maintaining appropriate standards that ensure safety for recipients and respect for donor families. Of course, there is only a small risk that an eye bank would ever compromise its safety by not maintaining incredibly strict donor standards. But, in such a scenario, a sudden increase in donor infection or rejection would be likely. This could lead to numerous transplant related morbidities for recipients, including the strong likelihood of being permanently blinded.

Other mechanisms of increasing recovery rates include expanding one's geographic recovery zone beyond the traditional standard of only recovering within one's local area. This can be achieved by one of two methods. First, an eye bank could attempt to acquire another local eye bank, which would allow for the outside eye bank to now own that eye bank's recovery locations and hospital contracts. The second method, if acquisition of the eye bank is unfavorable or not possible, is the outside eye bank could directly seek contracts with non-local hospitals to perform their deceased corneal recoveries. This might also be done via organ procurement organizations, where a for-profit may contract with an organ procurement organization to ensure that when the OPO is called to perform a recovery, that the for-profit entity will be the prioritized call over a local entity. As for-profit eye banks have more flexible capital, they may be able to negotiate contracts that offer financial advantages for the hospital system and OPOs, which is a phenomenon already seen in the tissue donation industry (Katz 2005). Taking hospital and OPO recoveries away from a local bank risks choking off the corneal tissue supply to a local bank, which may create a relative local scarcity despite the national surplus. It also risks closure of local banks, the ethical impact of which was covered in the prior chapter, or deterioration of a bank's operations to the extent that the non-local eye bank could pursue the first method of acquiring the local eye bank. The consolidation of eye banks similarly has its own ethical implications that have been covered elsewhere, but in brief, increasing consolidation of eye banks would allow for eye banks to operate with less accountability from alternate eye banks, and also risks national level destabilization of eye banking if anything occurs to damage the one central eye bank.

The notable point here is that although some may argue that recovery can help to provide better, more standardized corneal tissue nationally, these practices involve the deterioration of the operations of local eye banks, which means damaging the ability of the local eye bank to help donors and recipients as a larger eye bank begins to encroach on its recovery area. This is certainly not in line with the eye bank's duty to serve donors and to serve their altruism, and it reduces donated corneal tissue to a means to an end for capitalistic expansion. Moreover, it is dubious at best to claim that the only path to improving struggling eye banks is to acquire them directly; there are obvious other methods for assisting an eye bank that may not be as advanced other than consolidation. It is important to note here that the behaviors mentioned here are not a hypothetical; there are eye banks that have already sought out non-local recovery locations and that have worked to acquire other eye banks (Moshirfar et al. 2018). This represents a massive shift from the prior conduct of eye banking entities, and it is not unreasonable to tie this behavior to the growing conflicts of interest that are present for eye banks. There is no data beyond anecdote available right now to tie this behavior directly to for-profits or non-profits, which might be useful for better understanding if profit status motivates consolidative effort, but as has been already outlined, the presence of significant external financial influences is certainly something that can push an eye bank toward these types of competitive behaviors.

#### Processing/ Distribution

Looking to other areas where conflicts of interest may provoke unethical behavior, one can examine how tissue is managed and processed after recovery. For the purposes of this analysis, the steps of processing and distribution will be grouped together, as distribution goals can heavily influence management of corneal tissue processing. Typically, tissue once recovered can be handled in one of three ways. First, it can be used for transplantation, second, it can be used for research and development, or third, it can be discarded. Typically, the most ideal outcome for tissue is to be utilized for transplantation, and tissue is first placed with the surgeons who practice in the United States. This is also the most financially beneficial use of the tissue from the eye banking perspective, as the compensation rate for surgical corneal tissue domestically is much higher than for research tissue or for internationally exported corneal tissue. Discarding tissue is the least desirable outcome, as it means that the recovery cost for that tissue is a sunk cost for the eye bank, but also as it squanders the altruistic desires of the donor and donor family when they agreed to donate.

As already covered, it may be financially advantageous for an eye bank seeking to maximize profits to recover larger amounts of tissue, but only if that tissue is actually utilized. To maximize profits, the ideal would be to have the majority of the tissue placed with surgeons for transplant surgeries, as this would bring in the highest reimbursement rates. This requires having a large collection of partner surgeons to potentially distribute tissue to, more so than might be possible if the only surgeon partnerships were those that were geographically local. There may then be a motivation to try and solicit surgeons who are outside of the typical service area and create incentives for surgeons to switch from their local bank to an alternate partner eye bank. Again, I want to emphasize here that there may be a much larger incentive for a for-profit entity to pursue such an action than a non-profit. It is important to consider how exactly surgeons might be incentivized into partnering with an alternate eye bank.

The surplus of corneal tissue has created an environment where surgeons can theoretically pick and choose amongst the various tissue options that exists, as opposed to simply relying on whatever their local recovery site brings in. To entice a surgeon to their tissue, as opposed to another eye bank's, an eye bank must create some sort of novelty around a product (i.e. corneal tissue) that is typically fairly standardized at a national level. One way to do this is to simply more aggressively market one's tissue than other eye banks to create an aura of novelty, by directly contacting surgeons or hospital systems to promote their product; this may have ethical implications if the marketing is conducted in such a way that erases the donor's contribution from the corneal tissue being offered to surgeons. This is a concern that has previously been noted in tissue transplant, where tissue distributors would offer some humanbased product without any mention in the marketing material of the person who donated the tissue (Agnos 2003). This is already occurring in eye banking as well. The product catalog for the largest corneal processor in the United States lists several types of corneal tissue products with no mention that these products originate from a donated human (CorneaGen, Moshirfar et al. 2018). Not acknowledging the role of the donor and the donor's altruism in the creation of these products risks making donor families feel disrespected and also disregards the fundamental altruistic motivation behind donation (Agnos 2003).

An alternate approach for creating novelty around a corneal product is to actually treat the donor tissue in some original way, which similarly comes with its own implications. One such strategy already being used is packaging tissues with various inserter devices or other transplant technology devices and selling those devices with the tissue prepackaged within. This reignites questions regarding corneal tissue sale, as well as the ethical implications behind repackaging a human product as a component part of a medical device.

Recent years has seen the advent of corneal tissue insertion devices to assist in the transplantation of certain types of thinly cut donor tissue. The inserter devices that exist currently are typically single-use, and more often, they are now coming pre-loaded, so the tissue is delivered already prepared and in the device for insertion into the recipient eye. What this means then is that when an eye bank is supplying tissue for a surgery, they are now charging for the tissue and the device together, and often this represents an increase in the charge compared to the tissue alone. This upcharge is unlikely to raise concerns amongst surgeons and surgery centers, as the charge still would maintain a pass-through status with insurance. These inserters can be incredibly beneficial for surgeons, helping them to successfully complete the surgery at hand and allow them to more rapidly complete a challenging surgery. Moreover, with preloaded devices, there is less risk that a surgeon might be in a position where the tissue is unusable or damaged in the operating room, as the processing is completed by the eye bank before the patient even arrives. The ethical questions arise though of when these devices are used as a competitive edge by eye banks to try and solicit more surgeon partners. For example, some eye banks have placed a patent on their devices, such that any eye bank that desires to use the devices has to pay a licensing fee. Other eye banks will completely protect their devices, never allowing any other eye bank or non-partner surgeon to have access. Historically, eye banks tended to widely share

their techniques and abilities; for example, when endothelial keratoplasty was gaining popularity, eye banks often would share their processing strategies with one another, in order to help create uniformity amongst the eye banking community and to help make sure every community had easy access to novel transplantation advances (Mannis and Sugar 2018, Moshirfar et al. 2018). Giving limited access only to potentially beneficial technology for the purpose of creating a more favorable market for certain eye banks may allow them to build a fund for future endeavors, but it also deprives many patients from potentially sight-saving technology. The judgment to package tissue and devices as a novel product to be marketed seems one that is driven less by the goals of donors and more by the goal of making profits.

# Research

An important component of the conversation around these innovations and devices now being utilized by eye banks is that the research that may lead to the development of these innovations was built on donated tissue. Research in human donation is necessary to stimulate new knowledge discovery in the areas of transplant, but research work with donated human tissue must be conducted with care to avoid misuse or exploitation of the donor's generosity. In the United States currently, the amount of academic or government support for medical research by non-profit entities is relatively low, which can slow or even altogether halt the process of medical invention. But, as profits begin to accumulate for larger eye banks, mixed eye banking entities have arisen that both perform the cardinal functions of an eye bank (recovery, processing, and distribution), but that also have incorporated an in-house research branch. Such a situation is notably distinct from an eye bank providing tissue to an outside researcher and carries distinct ethical implications.

Adding an in-house research branch to an eye bank may allow for the creation of additional institutional conflicts of interests. As covered earlier, it may be to an eye bank's profit to be able to distinguish themselves as better than other eye banks, and this may involve offering novel additives or devices that other eye banks might have access to. Some eye banks have now decided to pursue this research and development in-house, which allows them further control over any intellectual property that may be created. By retaining these products as solely their own, as opposed to sharing them with other eye banks, an eye bank which can give themselves a financial edge in the corneal transplant market. But, this sort of relationship actually creates another institutional conflict of interest, as now the financial success of the eye bank is not only contingent on the success of its typical operations, but also on its research outcomes (Emanuel and Steiner 1995). This may also cause an individual conflict of interest for researchers employed by the eye bank, as their jobs and financial stability may be contingent on conducting research and reporting outcomes that the executives find favorable. These types of research conflicts of interest have previously been reported to erode neutrality in research. A systematic review by Bekelman, Li, and Gross (2003) found that publications of research funded by industry were three times as likely to publish pro-industry results. There have also been numerous instances of funding conflicts of interest compromising the judgement of researchers, even so far as to have resulted in research related deaths (Abramson and Starfield 2005). It is important to note that these are not concerns necessarily restricted to for-profits who seek to perform research. But, the profit-making motivations behind for-profit research, as well as the larger sums of money involved in a for-profit eye banks versus a non-profit, may make the magnitude of the secondary interest more difficult to overcome.

### Interventions to Help Mitigate Conflicts of Interest

46

Due to their multiple priorities, for-profit entities in eye banking face a large conflict of interest between their duty to their shareholders and their duty to donors, recipients, and surgeons. This conflict of interest poses the danger of unethical behavior throughout the donation cycle that may compromise the intentions of donors or recipients. The reality of the current eye banking system is that a blanket ban on any for-profit entity in eye banking is not only incredibly unlikely, but also is not a particularly effective strategy at managing conflicts of interest. For-profit entities are not inherently an unethical component of the donation pathway; the ethical challenges with for-profits primarily arise when responsible stewardship of donor tissue is eroded due to the desire to maximize profits. The eye banking community needs strategies to may mitigate the influence of these conflicts of interest and help to better protect the integrity of the donation process, with the important note that many of these strategies also apply to non-profit eye banks. To conclude this discussion of conflicts of interest, I will suggest three regulatory interventions that may assist to this end.

# Improving Informed Consent and Transparency

One primary improvement that can be adopted is a uniform minimum standard for transparency in informed consent procedures. Currently, recovery agencies are allowed to formulate their own personal scripts for consent conversations, but these scripts vary in their content and transparency about the various entities that are involved in the donation process. Currently, there is no mandate for an eye bank to provide information about for-profit entities in their consent conversations. If a donor's tissue might be transported to or utilized by a for-profit entity, informed consent conversations with families should include information about this. Moreover, information should be sufficiently detailed to allow for greater disclosure of the conflicts of interest that may exist, including information on what the for-profit entity will specifically be doing with the tissue (processing, distribution, etc.), and information about the logistics of a for-profit eye banking entity, including their financial structure, should be provided if the family inquires. There must also be transparency about tissue being potentially distributed away from the region of donation, including international distribution. In the status quo, the quality and outcomes of for-profit and non-profit tissue is essentially identical, and so families should be given clear notice that they can elect to donate without the corneal tissue interacting with a for-profit entity. Additionally, if possible, they can elect for the tissue to be retained locally if they feel these requirements are an essential component of the donor's goals. If a non-profit bank might have an institutional conflict of interest arising from some other etiology, that should be disclosed as well.

During the informed consent process, there should be a secondary consent process for corneal tissue to be allocated for research if unable to use for transplant. In brief, the consent conversation should mention if the tissue would only be used for research relating to corneal transplant, or if it might be used for other research purposes, noting what those purposes are or making it clear that future research projects cannot be known now, but all will need careful oversight and review. Again, it should be made clear that the tissue may be used for academic or commercial research, and that any innovations that result from research that uses their donated tissue may be used commercially and sold for profits (but that the family should not expect to share in any of the profit made from the product). Explicit clarification should be made, if the family asks, of who exactly might profit, being sure to note that shareholders and venture capitalists may also profit if they provided monetary support to the research. Finally, if an eye bank has a financial relationship with a research entity, such that they might also receive a financial benefit from any profitable innovations from research, this should be disclosed in the

informed consent. Some may object here, saying that relationships with for-profits are becoming too complex or that donor families may not fully understand what this means. But ethically, these are not reasons that would justify the withholding of information from families; if anything, the increasing complexity highlights the need to begin integrating safeguards for families more urgently.

By more completely informing families prior to donation about the potential commercial interactions that corneal tissue may encounter, it allows for families to have the knowledge that for-profit entities exist in corneal donation, which is the fundamental foundation for disclosure of the conflicts of interest that for-profit entities pose. By providing more information and options surrounding the issue of for-profits, both in transplant and in research, it gives families more control in making donation decisions that would otherwise be made by eye bank employees, such as who will process the tissue and where it might be distributed. Families can indicate which entities they feel most comfortable having their loved one's tissues interact with, be it forprofit or non-profit, or local or non-local. By putting this choice in family's hands, it may help to mitigate the for-profit incentive to solicit recovery locations outside one's service area, as there is no guarantee that families will allow their tissue to interact with a for-profit entity. This approach also gives families greater control and knowledge over research uses of tissue, again helping to overcome some of the effects of conflicts of interest on decisions of how tissue is used. Moreover, it allows donors and donor families to ensure that whatever happens to their tissue is within their wishes, and that the altruistic goals of the donor are being carried out as they hoped.

A final point of note here is that hand in hand with improved informed consent should come a shift to transparency for eye banks, specifically for for-profit eye banks who are likely to have more complex business models and who do not have the same legal obligation as nonprofits to divulge their finances at the end of each fiscal year. This would allow for the widespread disclosure of the any conflicts of interest that may exist for a for-profit bank, and donors/ donor families would be able to review this information in order to make a more informed donation decision. Additionally, this may act as a deterrent for eye banks to hold conflicts of interest that are likely to be publicly viewed as problematic by donors, surgeons, or recipients.

## Limiting Eye Bank Size

The topic of expansion by eye banks has been discussed here in two different ways: first, expanding the eye bank's recovery, processing, and distribution geographic locations by acquisition of other eye banks, and second, expanding the eye bank's distribution locations by solicitation of surgeons from across the nation, as opposed to within the local area. Both of these are particularly complex for for-profit entities that may be motivated to pursue such actions more aggressively to maximize their profit margins. And, these two actions go hand-in-hand, as acquisition of another eye bank's surgeons might destabilize that bank's operations and finances, making it easier for the larger eye bank to acquire the smaller eye bank. As covered earlier in this chapter and the last, these acquisitions can hurt local emergency tissue supply, which risks leaving patients in need of emergency sight-saving surgery without needed tissue and propagate competitive practices amongst eye banks that might damage operations. These competitive practices include marketing schemes in order to draw in surgeons. These advertisements treat the tissue as a surgical product as opposed to a human part, which as discussed, disrespects the sacrifice of donors/donor families and negates the donor altruism that is necessary for human based products to exist. Marketing in such a way creates a buyer-seller relationship with the

corneal tissue, which runs against the gift relationship central to donation motivation. The ability for an eye bank to market themselves at all is thanks to the gifts of thousands of donors, and to erase them from product catalogs or marketing materials is not only disrespectful, it is an unethical misrepresentation.

In order to confront the ethical issues that arise with some eye banks moving to a nonlocal model, stricter regulation is needed to guide acquisition of new eye banks locations or surgeons. First, the eye banking community should make all good faith efforts possible to prevent non-uniformity amongst eye banks. This is necessary to minimize the many unethical and negative effects that come from competitive practices in corneal donation, as previously covered. Moreover, it is the best way to ensure that all patients can access the highest quality of corneal tissue when receiving a transplant, regardless of their location, the surgeon they have, or the hospital they are at. For example, if an eye bank does not have sufficient donors to provide for their surgeons, other eye banks can provide supplemental tissue to bridge them, but should also provide any proven strategies they may know for increasing donation rates in the local population with the goal of eventually making the eye bank self-sufficient (e.g. public service announcements, donor drives, etc). Additionally, if an eye bank does not offer a processing technique that other eye banks may have access to, other eye banks should make an effort to help that eye bank acquire the necessary skills to perform the technique. Research reforms will be addressed in more detail in a separate section, but this additionally means that eye banks should not be seeking patents or other protections for processing techniques or for transplantation devices, as this promotes divisiveness and inequity amongst eye banks. If all good faith efforts have been made to salvage an eye bank, but the eye bank still faces closure and there is still a demonstrable need for corneal tissue in that area, then and only then should an alternate, nonlocal eye bank be allowed to expand and acquire the recovery, processing, and distribution in that area. This sort of regulation gives a compromise that acknowledges the potential need and utility for non-local eye banks to supply areas that are lacking, but disincentives competitive and consolidative behaviors. There should be additional regulation to prevent any one eye bank from controlling too much of the eye bank market through consolidative processes, as centralization of all eye bank processes is too precarious a situation for corneal transplant in this country. If one eye bank controls all corneal donation in this country, any disruption to that company's operations has massive ramifications for the corneal tissue supply in the United States, whereas a non-monopolized model prevents any one eye bank's dysfunctions from having national repercussions. Some may argue that in this scenario, an eye bank could be bailed out as financial banks were in 2008. But this safety net meant that financial banks, by and large, did not face repercussions for their abuses in the years prior that led to the need for a bailout and did nothing to discourage such activity in the future. Experts from the Federal Reserve have recommended that breaking up the big banks is one of the key actions to prevent a repeat financial crisis, although political and lobbying forces make this difficult to carry out after the fact (Kashkari 2016). For the donation industry, if actions and regulations can be put into place before monopolies that are too big to fail are created, this could help curtail the need for ever having a bailout of the eye banking industry at all.

By limiting the ability to which a company can expand its abilities or geographic reach beyond other eye banks, one may also in tandem be able to stem other competitive actions that are ethically problematic, such as dehumanizing marketing techniques, by both non-profits and for-profits. Additionally, it restricts the impact of conflicts of interest that for-profit eye banks face, as they would be barred from making certain business or financial decisions that they might otherwise choose to, and it also lessens how lucrative it might be to operate as a for-profit eye bank in the first place. By limiting certain competitive practices, one inherently limits the amount of profit that can be expected in the first place, and perhaps may set expectations with venture capitalists or other shareholders on how much return they should seek for their investment. Tampering the expectations of shareholders then lessens the magnitude of the conflict of interest for the eye bank and its leadership, who otherwise face the expectation to make as much profit as feasible, without any regulation aside from the NOTA. Finally, it could help prevent full consolidation of the eye banking system occurring in tandem with a for-profit IPO, which as mentioned risks losing control of the corneal transplant industry altogether.

It is worth mentioning here that consolidative processes are already ongoing at a national level, and that if regulatory bodies truly want to make a commitment to ensuring noncompetition amongst eye banking entities, limiting eye bank size might involve the breakup of some currently existing eye banks to reduce their magnitude. This would be a massive policy decision but might be one of the few steps that can radically slow the consolidative and competitive processes now ongoing before they are non-reversible.

### Research

Improving the informed consent processes for research based on corneal tissue was covered in the informed consent section, but there are a few other regulations that may help to stem the effect of conflicts of interest in the research sphere. One such conflict of interest is how research findings are managed, as those who are motivated by profits may be inclined to limit access to the transplant products they develop as a mechanism to become more competitive or to garner additional profits from the sale of these innovations. As mentioned in the last section, limiting access to innovations can contribute to a culture of competition and inequality amongst eye banks, which can lead to inequality of healthcare for recipients. If an eye bank has sightsaving technology but is not allowing other eye banks to have access simply for the purpose of perpetuating a market for corneal tissue, this is not a fair or just reason for recipients to be blinded. As such, patenting for eye banking techniques or devices that originate from donated tissue should not be permitted, and eye banks should commit to sharing innovations in eye banking broadly throughout the community. Some people might say this is an unreasonable standard, as the people who spend time and effort pursuing this research should be appropriately compensated for their efforts. But, there's no ethical reason to restrict access to vital healthcare simply to allow for someone to be compensated. Some might argue that without compensation, people won't be motivated to research in eye banking or corneal transplant, but this is historically untrue. There has been research and development in the corneal transplant field that has arisen from collaborative efforts between academic centers or eye banks, and a committed effort to this effort could still allow for the field to move forward without a large investment from private entities or venture capitalists (Mannis and Sugar 2018). It is worth acknowledging that the status quo of federal funding is lower than it has been historically, with more and more money being diverted away from scientific grants. This may mean that there is a role for private funding into the future, but these funding sources should be carefully vetted by eye banking organizations and should be operating independently from the eye banks to minimize the potential for conflicts of interest in research allocation decisions. And again, if private entities are involved, this should be explicitly disclosed to donor families prior, and they should have a full understanding of who will be using the tissue, what it will be used for, and who might eventually benefit from any research arising from their tissue.

# **Conclusion**

Identifying the ethical relevance of for-profit entities in corneal donation can be aided by identifying the relevant differences between non-profit and for-profit entities, then exploring if these differences may hold some type of ethical relevance. For-profit entities in and of themselves are not unethical, and so objections to them should be based in how their particular business or operations may compromise typical eye bank functions. In the initial interview survey conducted, the participants held concerns about losing donor trust, disruption of local tissue supply, and exploitation of generosity. None of these concerns, on further exploration, illuminate a particular difference between for-profits and non-profits based on their structure, and many of the concerns apply to both for-profit and non-profit entities. Regarding donation, the key differences between for-profits and non-profits are the ways in which they are able to raise capital and the presence of financial relationships that eye bank leadership must attend to when conducting their business. These relationships are reciprocal in nature, unlike those in nonprofit entities, and the continuation of these investments requires that there is some financial benefit for the investors. There is additionally a legal fiduciary duty that the for-profit company will operate in a way that is in the best financial interest of the shareholders. In donation, this financial duty must compete with the duty to donors and donor families, creating a conflict of interest that for-profit entities must address. Considering the magnitude of other donation industries, such as the \$2 billion tissue donation industry, the financial conflict of interest may be very large, making it more difficult to overcome for for-profit entities. Appropriate management of these conflicts of interest are important for keeping donor and donor family trust intact, and strategies must be adopted to stop or prevent unethical erosions to the donation process. Many of these concerns have either already been realized in eye-banking or have been seen in the forprofit tissue donation industry, and regulatory change to ensure that conflicts of interest can be

appropriately addressed would be useful for curbing these concerns. For-profit entities can bring benefits to the eye banking industry, such as increased research capacity and increased efficiency in processes, but they must ensure that they are addressing their conflicts of interest in a proactive way. This can be accomplished by standardizing and regulating various aspects of corneal donation, such as increasing transparency in informed consent and limiting the size/geographic reach of any one eye bank. Taking some of these steps may help to alleviate the concerns that were shared in the interview section and may protect the eye banking mission of restoring sight and helping patients.

### **Chapter Five: Conclusions**

Corneal donation has enjoyed great successes in the United States, as recipients no longer have to wait on transplant lists to receive a cornea, and new processing techniques are making transplant easier and safer than ever. Concurrent business changes in eye banking have created many new questions for the corneal donation industry, with many people in the field uncertain of what the future may hold for corneal donation and transplant. The status of for-profit entities into eye banking has been a fundamental question in assessing the many changes ongoing, with the challenge arising from the many distinct features of corneal banking that distinguish it from other forms of tissue donation where this topic may have been explored. Understanding the ethical significance of for-profit entities can help to guide future deliberations on if for-profit entities truly hold unique ethical significance as part of the corneal donation system, and if so, how should said ethical concerns be addressed.

The current literature and research are lacking is defining what ethical topics may be relevant for the unique situation of corneal donation, which due to its current structure may carry different areas of concern and areas of benefit than other types of transplant. To provide a launching pad for this ethical analysis, I chose to take an empirically driven approach, using prior literature and the expertise of ethicists and ophthalmologists to help guide the creation of an attitude survey for eye bankers and corneal surgeons. Through their responses, many points of interest were identified for further discussion. The majority of participants did hold ethical concerns with a for-profit entity in eye banking, but many also acknowledged that there are benefits to their involvement, as their larger capital availability allows for research and innovation to occur more rapidly. The most common concerns noted were the loss of local eye banking, exploitation of the donor's gift, and loss of donor trust.

Following the identification of frequent concerns, it was important to assess whether these concerns held up to more critical analysis, with a focus on determining 1) if the concern held ethical validity, and 2) if the concern was specific to for-profit entities. On examination of the three major concerns held by the group, it was clear that none of them held weight in explaining why a for-profit entity is uniquely ethically problematic. Many of the concerns mentioned could apply to both non-profits and for-profits and have already been ongoing in the eye banking system. One consistent thread was that these ethical concerns all were associated in some way with the larger issue of increasing competition in eye banking, which then posed the question of why for-profits are particularly being linked with such behavior. Examining the differences in the structure of a for-profit business in donation, versus a non-profit business, was a useful strategy for seeing if any of the other concerns from the literature or interview study might be salient to explore further as well. The presence of investors in a for-profit entity, as well as the much larger sums of money that a for-profit is able to raise, are structural differences that may introduce ethical challenges due to the presence of conflicts of interest with their duty to donors and their duty to investors.

It is not unethical for an eye bank to have donors, investors, or shareholders, but competing interests between donors and shareholders presents a conflict of interest that might compromise the ability of eye banks and their employees to act as a neutral steward of donor tissue. For eye banks that have a priority to maximize profits, such as for-profit entity, there may be an influence to make decisions that are best for shareholders, as opposed to best for donors, donor families, recipients, or the eye banking community at large. For-profit eye banks specifically must reckon with their fiduciary duty to their investors and their duty to donors/ donor families, and acknowledge that these interests compete with each other, especially as forprofit eye banks are entities that rely on the trade of donated, gratis human tissue to build their company's profits. If these competing duties are not appropriately managed, there are several potentially damaging outcomes, many of which have already emerged in the for-profit tissue banking industry. This includes taking actions to maximize their recovery and distribution rates, including promoting uncontrolled consolidation and competition between eye banks, which can hurt local tissue supplies. Research and development arms of eye banks are also becoming more popular, but if there is an incentive to have research outcomes that are financially favorable for an eye bank, this might compromise the neutrality and safety of any produced works.

Trust in eye banking entities is necessary to maintain our corneal donation system, lest donors fear that their tissue is being exploited or misused due to other influences. This means that not only should conflicts of interest in corneal banking be transparent and freely disclosed to the larger public, but that stronger regulation and policy are needed to disincentivize actions that are unethical, that may damage donation, that or run contrary to the altruism at the heart of deceased donation. This includes limitations on competitive behaviors by eye banking entities, which might constrain the possible profitability of any one eye bank, improved informed consent processes for donor families, and freer access to research that may benefit the corneal transplant community at large. At the heart of all of these regulations is a call for a renewed commitment to collaboration of corneal banking entities and tempering the shift toward competitive business techniques.

Calls for collaboration may sound hollow, but leadership and regulation that enhances cooperative relationships between eye banks can mitigate abuses from competing external influences, while stimulating the corneal transplant community to form relationships internally that can provide the benefits of having a larger capital base for research and innovation. Careful consideration should be given by guiding bodies of how to best reconcile the many voices currently present in eye banking, acknowledging that donors and recipients should always remain central to any deliberation on these issues, as this industry exists to serve patients first and foremost. Policy decisions may be assisted by the amplification of donor and donor family opinions, and future research that assesses the perspectives of this population may be helpful in that effort.

Finally, it is worth noting that the trajectory of current research in corneal transplantation suggests that in the future, the need for corneal tissue may actually decline significantly. These new techniques may need only one donor cornea to create 100 transplantable tissue grafts, or there's the potential for no donor corneal tissue need at all if stem-cell based technologies are successfully implemented. These innovations mean that change in the corneal transplantation field is an inevitability, and the traditional functions of eye banks may not be the best for patients or surgeons into the future. As eye banks and the eye banking community continue to change and adapt to incoming research and development, the goal of keeping patient's interests first should continue to guide the industry. Even if the need for donated tissue declines into the future, efforts must still be taken to protect remaining donors from exploitation and harm. Proactive efforts to manage conflicts of interest in corneal transplant may help to prevent future abuses and can lay the groundwork for a culture of transparency and collaboration in a changing industry.

\

# **References:**

- Abramson, John, and Barbara Starfield. 2005. "The effect of conflict of interest on biomedical research and clinical practice guidelines: can we trust the evidence in evidence-based medicine?" *J Am Board Fam Pract* 18 (5):414-418.
- Agnos, Sherry. 2003. Tissue Donations: Issues and Options in Oversight, Regulation and Consent. California Senate Office of Research.
- Ahmad, S., G. Vong, R. D. Pentz, M. Dixon, K. W. Davis, and Y. M. Khalifa. 2020. "Ethics in Eye Banking: Understanding Professional Attitudes Toward Industry Changes." *Cornea*. doi: 10.1097/ico.0000000002296.
- Barry, Christopher B, Chris J Muscarella, John W Peavy Iii, and Michael R Vetsuypens. 1990.
  "The role of venture capital in the creation of public companies: Evidence from the going-public process." *Journal of Financial economics* 27 (2):447-471.
- Bekelman, Justin E, Yan Li, and Cary P Gross. 2003. "Scope and impact of financial conflicts of interest in biomedical research: a systematic review." Jama 289 (4):454-465.
- Bentley, T Scott, and Steven G Hanson. 2014. "2014 US organ and tissue transplant cost estimates and discussion." *Milliman Research Report*.
- Boyd, Thomas H. 1989. "Cost containment and the physician's fiduciary duty to the patient." *DePaul L. Rev.* 39:131.
- Camenisch, Paul F. 1981. "Gift and gratitude in ethics." The Journal of Religious Ethics:1-34.
- Champney, Thomas H. 2016. "The business of bodies: Ethical perspectives on for-profit body donation companies." *Clinical Anatomy* 29 (1):25-29. doi: doi:10.1002/ca.22643.
- Chen, Jane. 2013. "Should Your Business Be Nonprofit or For-Profit?" *Harvard Business Review*.
- Chu, Wing. 2000. "The Past Twenty-five Years in Eye Banking." *Cornea* 19 (5):754-765. CorneaGen. "Cornea Care Products and Services."
  - https://corneagen.com/SightLifeSurgical/media/Site-Content/Product%20Catalog/CC-100 SLS-Product-Catalog Web.pdf.
- Delmonico, F. L., B. Dominguez-Gil, R. Matesanz, and L. Noel. 2011. "A call for government accountability to achieve national self-sufficiency in organ donation and transplantation." *Lancet* 378 (9800):1414-8. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)61486-4.
- Døskeland, Trond, and Lars Jacob Tynes Pedersen. 2015. "Investing with brain or heart? A field experiment on responsible investment." *Management Science* 62 (6):1632-1644.
- Dworkin, Gerald. 1993. "Markets and morals: the case for organ sales." *Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine* 60 (1):66-69.
- Ellis, Katrina, Roni Michaely, and Maureen O'Hara. 1999. *A guide to the initial public offering process*: Citeseer.
- Emanuel, E. J., and D. Steiner. 1995. "Institutional conflict of interest." *N Engl J Med* 332 (4):262-7. doi: 10.1056/nejm199501263320412.
- Eye Bank Association of America. "The Process for the Donor's Family." <u>https://restoresight.org/cornea-donation/understanding-cornea-donation/the-process-for-the-donors-family/</u>.
- Fabregas, Luis, and Andrew Conte. 2013. \$2B a year in sales depends on benevolence of tissue donor families, companies admit. *Trib Live*.

- Farrugia, Albert, Josua Penrod, and Jan M Bult. 2010. "Payment, compensation and replacement–the ethics and motivation of blood and plasma donation." *Vox sanguinis* 99 (3):202-211.
- Field, Marilyn J, and Bernard Lo. 2009. *Conflict of interest in medical research, education, and practice*: National Academies Press.
- Gain, Philippe, Rémy Jullienne, Zhiguo He, Mansour Aldossary, Sophie Acquart, Fabrice Cognasse, and Gilles Thuret. 2016. "Global Survey of Corneal Transplantation and Eye Banking." JAMA Ophthalmology 134 (2):167-173. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2015.4776.
- Gill, Paul, and Lesley Lowes. 2008. "Gift exchange and organ donation: donor and recipient experiences of live related kidney transplantation." *International journal of nursing studies* 45 (11):1607-1617.
- Goodpaster, Kenneth E. 1991. "Business ethics and stakeholder analysis." *Business ethics* quarterly:53-73.
- Grand View Research. 2018. "Sperm Bank Market Size Analysis Report By Service Type (Sperm Storage, Semen Analysis, Genetic Consultation), By Donor Type (Known, Anonymous), By End Use, And Segment Forecasts, 2019 - 2025." <u>https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/sperm-bank-market</u>.
- Greasley, K. 2014. "A legal market in organs: the problem of exploitation." *J Med Ethics* 40 (1):51-6. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2012-100770.
- Hanefeld, J., R. Smith, D. Horsfall, and N. Lunt. 2014. "What do we know about medical tourism? A review of the literature with discussion of its implications for the UK National Health Service as an example of a public health care system." *J Travel Med* 21 (6):410-7. doi: 10.1111/jtm.12147.
- Hayden, Aaron, Rusty Kelly, and Sara Rapuano. 2012. Medicare Claims Analysis for Corneal Transplantation
- Procedures and Tissue SightLife.
- Hofmann, Mary Ann, and Dwayne McSwain. 2013. "Financial disclosure management in the nonprofit sector: A framework for past and future research." *Journal of accounting literature* 32 (1):61-87.
- Holt, Lawrence. 1965. History of Eye Bank Association of America.
- Horwitz, Jill. 2005. "Making Profits And Providing Care: Comparing Nonprofit, For-Profit, And Government Hospitals." *Health Affairs* 24 (3):790-801. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.24.3.790.
- Hynes, Mary. 2019. "Las Vegas woman's donation of son's corneas leaves her angry." *Las Vegas Review-Journal*. <u>https://www.reviewjournal.com/local/local-las-vegas/las-vegas-womans-donation-of-sons-corneas-leaves-her-angry-1832635/</u>.
- Kashkari, Neel. 2016. "Lessons from the crisis: Ending too big to fail." *Remarks at the Brookings Institution, Washington DC.*
- Katz, Robert A. 2005. "The re-gift of life: Can charity law prevent for-profit firms from exploiting donated tissue and nonprofit tissue banks." *DePaul L. Rev.* 55:943.
- Kind, A. J., C. Bartels, M. W. Mell, J. Mullahy, and M. Smith. 2010. "For-profit hospital status and rehospitalizations at different hospitals: an analysis of Medicare data." *Ann Intern Med* 153 (11):718-27. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-153-11-201012070-00005.
- Kirby, Tony. 2012. "Profiteering threatens the altruism of tissue donation." *The Lancet* 380 (9854):1635-1636.

- Lee, Matthew, and Jason Jay. 2015. "Strategic responses to hybrid social ventures." *California Management Review* 57 (3):126-147.
- Li, C. Y., A. Karmarkar, Y. L. Lin, Y. F. Kuo, K. J. Ottenbacher, and J. E. Graham. 2018. "Is Profit Status of Inpatient Rehabilitation Facilities Independently Associated With 30-Day Unplanned Hospital Readmission for Medicare Beneficiaries?" *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 99 (3):598-602.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2017.09.002.
- Liaboe, Chase, Jesse M. Vislisel, Gregory A. Schmidt, and Mark A. Greiner. 2015. "Corneal Transplantation: From Donor to Recipient." University of Iowa Department of Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences <u>http://EyeRounds.org/tutorials/cornea-transplantdonor-to-recipient</u>.
- Long, Mark C., and Eleanor Krause. 2017. "Altruism by age and social proximity." *PloS one* 12 (8):e0180411-e0180411. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180411.
- Luebke, Neil R. 1987. "Conflict of interest as a moral category." *Business and Professional Ethics Journal* 6 (1):66-81.
- MacKellar, C. 2014. "Human organ markets and inherent human dignity." *New Bioeth* 20 (1):53-71.
- Malani, Anup, and Eric A Posner. 2007. "The case for for-profit charities." *Virginia Law Review*:2017-2067.
- Mannis, M. J., and J. Sugar. 2018. "Is This the Future of Eye Banking?" *Cornea* 37 (7):811-812. doi: 10.1097/ico.00000000001616.
- Margolis, Joshua D. 2015. "Professionalism, Fiduciary Duty, and Health-Related Business Leadership." *JAMA* 313 (18):1819-1820. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.4398.
- Martin, Dominique E, Richard Kelly, Gary LA Jones, Heather Machin, and Graeme A Pollock. 2017. "Ethical issues in transnational eye banking." *Cornea* 36 (2):252-257.
- Matesanz, Rafael. 1996. "THE PANORAMA EFFECT ON ALTRUISTIC ORGAN DONATION." *Transplantation* 62 (11):1700,1701.
- McHale, J. V. 2013. "Organ transplantation, the criminal law, and the health tourist: a case for extraterritorial jurisdiction?" *Camb Q Healthc Ethics* 22 (1):64-76. doi: 10.1017/s0963180112000394.
- Moore, Mark H. 2000. "Managing for value: Organizational strategy in for-profit, nonprofit, and governmental organizations." *Nonprofit and voluntary sector quarterly* 29 (1\_suppl):183-204.
- Moriarty, Jeffrey. 2017. Business Ethics. In *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, edited by Edward N. Zalta: Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University.
- Moshirfar, Majid, Jackson L. Goldberg, Tanner W. Brown, William D. Wagner, and Yasmyne C. Ronquillo. 2018. "A paradigm shift in eye banking: how new models are challenging the status quo." *Clinical ophthalmology (Auckland, N.Z.)* 13:63-67. doi: 10.2147/OPTH.S181534.
- Petrini, Carlo. 2012. "Ethical and legal considerations regarding the ownership and commercial use of human biological materials and their derivatives." *Journal of Blood Medicine* 3:87-96. doi: 10.2147/JBM.S36134.
- Pirnay, Jean-Paul, Etienne Baudoux, Olivier Cornu, Alain Delforge, Christian Delloye, Johan Guns, Ernst Heinen, Etienne Van den Abbeel, Alain Vanderkelen, Caroline Van Geyt, Ivan van Riet, Gilbert Verbeken, Petra De Sutter, Michiel Verlinden, Isabelle Huys, Julian Cockbain, Christian Chabannon, Kris Dierickx, Paul Schotsmans, Daniel De Vos, Thomas Rose, Serge Jennes, and Sigrid Sterckx. 2015. "Access to human tissues for

research and product development: From EU regulation to alarming legal developments in Belgium." *EMBO Reports* 16 (5):557-562. doi: 10.15252/embr.201540070.

- Rapport, F.L., and C.J. Maggs. 2002. "Titmuss and the gift relationship: altruism revisited." *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 40 (5):495-503. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2002.02406.x.
- Richard L. Lindstrom, MD. 2017. "Substantial changes likely in eye banking, corneal transplant community." *Ocular Surgery News U.S. Edition*, July 25th, 2017.
- Röck, Tobias, Matthias Bramkamp, Karl Ulrich Bartz-Schmidt, and Daniel Röck. 2017. "Organ transplantation scandal influencing corneal donation rate." *International journal of ophthalmology* 10 (6):1001-1003. doi: 10.18240/ijo.2017.06.25.
- Rose, Linda, Clare Kelliher, and Albert S Jun. 2009. "Endothelial keratoplasty: historical perspectives, current techniques, future directions." *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology* 44 (4):401-405.
- Shaw, David, James Neuberger, and Paul Murphy. 2013. Lessons from the German organ donation scandal. SAGE Publications Sage UK: London, England.
- Siminoff, Laura A., and Heather M. Traino. 2013. "Consenting to donation: an examination of current practices in informed consent for tissue donation in the US." *Cell and tissue banking* 14 (1):85-95. doi: 10.1007/s10561-012-9303-7.
- Siminoff, Laura A., Heather M. Traino, and Nahida Gordon. 2010. "Determinants of Family Consent to Tissue Donation." *The Journal of trauma* 69 (4):956-963. doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e3181d8924b.
- Sobota, Margaret R. 2004. "The Price of Life: 50,000 for an Egg, Why Not 1,500 for a Kidney-An Argument to Establish a Market for Organ Procurement Similar to the Current Market for Human Egg Procurement." *Wash. ULQ* 82:1225.
- Thompson, Bradley Merrill, and Leah R Kendall. 2009. "Regulating the Human Tissue Trade." *Health care law monthly* 1:2.
- Titmuss, Richard. 2018. *The gift relationship (reissue): From human blood to social policy:* Policy Press.
- Vertanous, T., L. S. Czer, M. de Robertis, A. Kiankhooy, J. Kobashigawa, F. Esmailian, and A. Trento. 2016. "Leading Efforts to Increase Organ Donation Through Professionalization of Organ Procurement Organizations and Establishment of Organ and Tissue Donor Registries." *Transplant Proc* 48 (1):10-4. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2015.12.029.
- Wigley, Shelley. 2008. "Gauging consumers' responses to CSR activities: does increased awareness make cents?" *Public Relations Review* 34 (3):306-308.
- Wilkinson, Stephen. 2004. *Bodies for sale: Ethics and exploitation in the human body trade:* Routledge.
- Wilkinson, Stephen. 2016. Gamete donor motives, payment and child welfare. In *Regulating Reproductive Donation*, edited by Susan Golombok.